# THE NEUROVASCULAR NICHE AFTER IRRADIATION TO THE DEVELOPING BRAIN

Martina Boström

Center for Brain Repair and Rehabilitation Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology at Sahlgrenska Academy University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

2013

@ Martina Boström Göteborg 2013, Ineko AB ISBN 978-91-628-8772-8

Cover illustration of blood vessels from Mostphotos

All illustrations in the introduction of this thesis are made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin <u>http://www.300kelvin.se/</u>

To my family!

This thesis would not exist without your endless love and support ♥

## THE NEUROVASCULAR NICHE AFTER IRRADIATION TO THE DEVELOPING BRAIN

#### Martina Boström

Center for Brain Repair and Rehabilitation, Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology, at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Sweden 2013

#### Abstract

Radiotherapy is commonly used in the treatment of pediatric brain tumors but is unfortunately associated with debilitating negative effects, such as impaired memory and learning. Historically, vascular damage following radiotherapy was considered the primary injury which in turn caused ischemia and necrosis. This hypothesis was supported by studies reporting structural changes to blood vessels, such as thickening of the vessel walls, vessel dilation and enlargement of the endothelial cell nucleus. Furthermore, quantitative studies observed time- and dose-dependent loss of endothelial cells, vessel length and density after irradiation. Most experimental studies have, however, focused on the mature brain and used high doses of irradiation. Moreover, the adult brain is capable of generating new neurons throughout life in discrete areas of the brain, and these regions are consistently affected by irradiation. Hence, much research has focused on the neural stem and progenitor cells, since a loss of these cell types have therefore been neglected and need to be examined in order to see the full picture.

In this thesis we investigated the effects after a single moderate dose of cranial irradiation (8 - 10 Gy) to the juvenile brain and focused on the vasculature in different areas. Analysis of vascular structure and complexity up to 1 year after irradiation indicated that the vasculature adjusted to the needs of the surrounding tissue. This was observed in both the hippocampus (gray matter) and the corpus callosum (white matter). We did not observe any apparent endothelial cell death, nor any upregulation of genes involved in endothelial cell death acutely after irradiation. The reduction of neural progenitor cells in the hippocampus was however irreversible and we demonstrated that irradiation in fact accelerated the natural decline in neurogenesis with age. We also investigated the neurovascular niche and found a disruption early after irradiation between the morphological patency of the neurovascular niche and hippocampal neurogenesis.

Using flow cytometry we isolated endothelial cells and investigated gene expression after irradiation. We then surprisingly observed that endothelial cells upregulated proinflammatory genes acutely after irradiation. This has previously not been observed in endothelial cells after *in vivo* irradiation, but indicates that although endothelial cells seem to be less sensitive to radiation, they are involved in the inflammatory response after irradiation.

Keywords: Radiotherapy, hippocampus, neurovascular niche, neurogenesis, microvessels, endothelial cells ISBN 978-91-628-8772-8

## POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Strålbehandling är en vida använd metod för att behandla tumörer i hjärnan och många patienter med primära eller sekundära tumörer får strålning mot hela eller delar av hjärnan. Förbättrade behandlingsprotokoll har lett till en ökad överlevnad hos barn med hjärntumörer, men även resulterat i allt fler biverkningar som drastiskt sänker deras livskvalitet. Mycket talar för att även låga doser av strålning kan leda till svårigheter med minne och inlärning, en effekt som visat sig vara mer uttalad ju yngre patienterna är vid behandlingen och som förvärras med tiden.

Vi använder oss av en modell där unga möss och råttor strålas för att efterlikna de skador och biverkningar som uppkommer hos barn efter strålbehandling. De flesta celler i hjärnan delar sig väldigt sällan och nervcellerna delar sig inte alls. Därför tål hjärnan, som organ betraktat, strålning bättre än många andra organ. Tills nyligen har man trott att hjärnan påverkas av strålning främst genom att små blodkärl skadas och att störd blodtillförsel skulle skada omgivande vävnad. Då strålning framförallt påverkar celler som delar sig, ser vi i denna modell tydliga skador i hjärnans två områden med neurala stamceller. I denna avhandling har vi fokuserat på ett av dessa områden som kallas hippocampus och som anses viktigt för minne och inlärning. Det tros även finnas ett samband mellan minskad nybildning av nervceller i hippocampus och de problem med minne och inlärning som dessa barn uppvisar efter strålbehandling. Förhoppningen är att hitta strategier som skyddar dessa celler och därmed bidra till ökad livskvalitet för barn som överlever sin cancer. Stamceller i dessa områden är inte jämnt utspridda utan är koncentrerade runt blodkärl, sannolikt för att ha konstant tillgång till näring och de signalämnen som transporteras med blodet. Direkt fysisk kontakt mellan stamceller och endotelceller verkar vara viktigt för stamcellernas förmåga att bilda nya nervceller. Tidigare forskning har föreslagit att stamcellernas närhet till blodkärl störs efter strålning mot den mogna hjärnan. En central fråga i denna avhandling har därför varit att undersöka om detta sker även i den unga, ännu växande hjärnan.

Studierna i denna avhandling visar att en relativt måttlig stråldos mot den unga hjärnan leder till en bestående minskning av neurala progenitorceller i hippocampus, och att den normala åldersrelaterade minskningen i nybildning av nervceller skedde snabbare i strålade djur. Förutom detta studerade vi även potentiella effekter på blodkärl, och fann att kärldensiteten anpassade sig till den omgivande vävnaden. Detta står i stark motsats mot de minskningar i kärldensitet som tidigare observerats efter strålning, dock efter mycket högre doser än i denna avhandling. Dessutom visar våra resultat att endotelcellerna inte dör direkt efter strålning. Om strålning resulterar i andra effekter än celldöd återstår dock att undersöka. I motsats till tidigare forskning såg vi enbart en akut störning av närheten mellan kärl och celler i hippocampus och att störningen återhämtade sig med tid efter strålning. Detta tyder på att den omogna och mogna hjärnan reagerar olika på strålning, vilket vi redan har sett i andra avseenden. Ett oväntat fynd var att endotelceller verkar vara involverade i det akuta inflammatoriska svaret som sker efter strålning och som har visat sig ha negativa effekter på nybildning av stamceller. Sammantaget tyder våra resultat på att blodkärlens endotelceller är mindre känsliga för strålning än omgivande celler, åtminstone vid dessa måttliga stråldoser, men att de kan spela en viktig roll i regleringen av den omgivande miljön efter strålning.

8

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers/manuscripts, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Irradiation to the young mouse brain caused long-term, progressive depletion of neurogenesis but did not disrupt the neurovascular niche
  <u>Boström M</u>, Kalm M, Karlsson N, Hellström Erkenstam N and Blomgren K.
  J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 33(6): 935-943 (2013)
- II. The hippocampal neurovascular niche during normal development and after irradiation to the juvenile mouse brain <u>Boström M</u>, Hellström Erkenstam N, Kaluza D, Jakobsson L, Kalm M and Blomgren K. *Submitted*
- III. Irradiation to the young mouse brain impaired white matter growth more in females than in males Roughton K, <u>Boström M</u>, Kalm M and Blomgren K. *Cell Death and Disease, In press (2013)*
- IV. Gene expression in endothelial cells isolated by flow cytometry after irradiation to the young mouse brain <u>Boström M</u>, Kalm M, Hellström Erkenstam N and Blomgren K. *Manuscript*

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

+	Positive
BBB	Blood brain barrier
BLBP	Brain lipid-binding protein
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine
CB	Cerebellum
CC	Corpus callosum
CD13	Cluster of Differentiation 13
CD31	Cluster of Differentiation 31
CNS	Central nervous system
DCX	Doublecortin
DG	Dentate gyrus
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EC	Endothelial cell
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cell
GCL	Granule cell layer
Gy	Gray
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
MBP	Myelin basic protein
ML	Molecular layer
NPC	Neural progenitor cell
NSC	Neural stem cell
NSPC	Neural stem/progenitor cell
OB	Olfactory bulb
Olig2	Oligodendrocyte lineage transcription factor 2
Р	Postnatal day
RMS	Rostral migratory stream
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SGZ	Subgranular zone
SVZ	Subventricular zone

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	5	
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	7	
LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS	9	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS		
INTRODUCTION		
VASCULAR AND NERVOUS SYSTEM		
Vasculature		
Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis		
Adult neurogenesis		
Concept of neurogenesis		
Adult neurogenic areas		
Apoptosis		
Prolonged postnatal neurogenesis in the cerebellum		
NEUROVASCULAR NICHE		
Blood brain barrier		
Endothelial cells		
Pericytes		
Microglia		
Astrocytes		
White matter		
Corpus callosum		
Oligodendrocytes		
Childhood cancers		
Radiotherapy		
Radiobiological effects		
General AIM		
Specific aims		
Methodological considerations		
Animals		
Ethical permission		
IRRADIATION MODEL		
General irradiation procedure		
Clinical perspective		
TISSUE PREPARATION		
STAINING PROCEDURES		
General procedure of immunohistochemistry		
Possible amplification steps		
Fluorescent molecules		

Antigen blocking	. 48	
LABELING OF PROLIFERATING CELLS	. 48	
BrdU labeling		
Cell cycle markers	. 50	
Stereology		
Landmarks		
Volume measurements	. 52	
Cell counting	. 52	
Vessel morphology	. 53	
Manual vessel analysis	. 53	
Automated vessel analysis with Metamorph	. 54	
Confocal microscopy	. 55	
Neurovascular niche	. 56	
Pericyte coverage	. 56	
Flow Cytometry	. 57	
Single cell suspension		
Basic procedure of flow cytometry		
Cell cycle analysis	. 59	
Gene expression analysis		
RNA purification	. 59	
cDNA synthesis		
Reverse transcription quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR)		
Detecting genomic DNA	. 61	
ELISA	. 62	
STATISTICS AND SIGNIFICANCE	. 63	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
Permanent changes in neurogenesis	. 65	
STRUCTURAL CHANGES IN THE VASCULATURE	. 66	
Changes in the neurovascular niche	. 67	
Endothelial apoptosis	. 69	
Gene expression in endothelial cells after irradiation.		
White matter damage	. 74	
VASCULAR VERSUS NEURONAL HYPOTHESIS	. 76	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	. <b>79</b>	
Specific conclusions to given aims	. <b>79</b>	
CLINICAL PERSPECTIVE AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS		
Acknowledgements		
References	. 87	

## INTRODUCTION

The large number of postmitotic neurons and other cell types with limited proliferation capacity makes the brain relatively radioresistant compared to other tissues with more rapid cell turnover. This view encouraged the use of high radiation doses within the central nervous system (CNS) during the previous century (Russell et al., 1949). However, shortly after the discovery of the X-rays (end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century) it was noticed that high radiation doses resulted in necrosis and gliosis of the brain some time after radiation. Major blood vessel abnormalities were a consistent finding within the damaged tissue and it was therefore hypothesized that the damage to normal tissue after irradiation was related to insufficient vascular supply (Hopewell et al., 1993). The validity of this hypothesis has been widely challenged but for long there was ample amount of evidence that the vasculature was the primary target that subsequently caused ischemia and necrosis (McDonald and Hayes, 1967).

The survival rates of children with childhood cancers have increased significantly during the last decades (~6) (Steliarova-Foucher et al., 2004, Gustafsson et al., 2013). As a consequence, a population of long term survivors which previously did not exist is now emerging. Individuals treated with cranial radiotherapy gradually develop negative so called late effects, such as hormonal imbalance, perturbed growth as well as impaired learning and memory (Lannering et al., 1990a). During the last decades (~3) treatment protocols have therefore been adjusted to reduce both radiation volumes and doses in the hope of reducing the negative side effects of radiotherapy. In line with this, many animal models have been redesigned, using lower radiation doses in order to more closely mimic the clinical settings. In the current thesis we have therefore exclusively used moderate

#### INTRODUCTION

doses of radiation. This explains, at least partly, why we were unable to see the kind of vascular damage reported in previous studies following irradiation. However, it is remarkable that these relatively moderate doses nearly ablated hippocampal neurogenesis and that the natural, age-related decline in neurogenesis progressed more rapidly after irradiation. The link between cognitive decline and reduced hippocampal neurogenesis demonstrates the importance of finding ways to prevent or ameliorate this chronic ablation of neurogenesis after radiotherapy.

#### VASCULAR AND NERVOUS SYSTEM

On the macroscopic level, anatomical similarities between the vascular and the nervous system were observed in the 16<sup>th</sup> century by the Belgian anatomist Andreas Vesalius. Furthermore, when methods such as histology evolved, a mutual relationship between the two systems was found also on the microscopic level. In fact, the vascular and the nervous system rely on reciprocal communication in order for correct development and functional integration to occur (Mukouyama et al., 2002, Larrivee et al., 2009, Tam and Watts, 2010). Today, it is generally accepted that the modern nervous system arose earlier in evolution than the vascular system. The question regarding which of the systems that regulates or coordinates the other is however under debate. In the developing mouse embryo, outgrowth of the vasculature has been observed to precede neural axon outgrowth (Carmeliet and Tessier-Lavigne, 2005, Tam and Watts, 2010). However, at the same time is has been suggested that peripheral nerves in the skin establish branching patterns of blood vessels as well as arterial differentiation (Mukouyama et al., 2002).

A model has emerged where endothelial tip cells in vessels sense and navigate to their target in a similar fashion that axonal growth cones sense the surroundings and find their way (De Smet et al., 2009). In addition, multiple molecules and signal pathways are used by both the neural and vascular system. Several of these molecules were initially discovered as important for axonal pathfinding (e.g. ephrins, netrins, slit and sematophorins) but have also been identified as involved in vascular remodeling and vessel guidance (Autiero et al., 2005, Carmeliet and Tessier-Lavigne, 2005, Eichmann et al., 2005). Likewise, some well-known factors involved in angiogenesis (e.g. vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGF and angiopoietin 1; Ang-1) are also regulators during development and normal function of the nervous system (Lee et al., 2009). VEGF is in fact a potent stimulator of neurogenesis both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Jin et al., 2002). Hence, there is a close connection between the vascular and the nervous system.

#### Vasculature

During the evolution of multicellular organisms, the delivery of oxygen to all tissues by simple diffusion became insufficient. The need for a circulatory system increased as multicellular organisms progressively evolved (Fisher and Burggren, 2007). In aerobic animals, the vascular system exhibits crucial functions in all tissues of the body through the delivery of oxygen and nutrients, as well as the removal of waste products. In fact, since the vasculature is essential for the development of all other organs, it is the first system to develop during embryogenesis (Hirschi et al., 2002). The human brain has an extensive vascular network consisting of approximately 400 miles of blood vessels. Through these, the brain receives and uses around 20% of the energy consumed within the body. This is remarkable in the sense that the brain only constitutes 2% of the total body mass. A continuous blood supply to the brain is crucial given that the brain has no local energy reserve and damage to neurons can therefore occur within minutes if cerebral blood flow stops or decreases. Vessel diameter and cerebral blood flow are dependent on the local demand for oxygen and nutrients and is consequently not fixed for a certain area or region. Increased neuronal activity is therefore intimately coupled to increased cerebral blood flow (Lok et al., 2007, Zlokovic, 2008, Tam and Watts, 2010).

#### Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis

The formation of blood vessels involves two different processes; vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. In the embryo, new vessels are formed from endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs, angioblasts), which together create a vascular plexus consisting of a meshwork of endothelial cells (ECs). This

#### INTRODUCTION

process of *de novo* production of blood vessels is known as vasculogenesis and is established before blood flow begins. The vascular plexus then serves as template for further growth and modifications into a mature vascular system. As the embryo grows, expansion of the vascular system is instead dependent on angiogenesis. The term angiogenesis is generally used to describe the growth of vessels, but in its strictest sense only refers to vessel sprouting and elongation from preexisting ECs. Angiogenesis does hence not include *de novo* generation of vessels (Hirschi et al., 2002, Swift and Weinstein, 2009, Tam and Watts, 2010, Potente et al., 2011).

Vasculogenesis was originally believed to occur exclusively during embryogenesis and instead it was believed that all postnatal formation of new blood vessels occurred through angiogenesis. However, during recent years it has been suggested that EPCs from the bone marrow can participate in postnatal neovasculogenesis (Khakoo and Finkel, 2005, Ribatti, 2007). EPCs were first characterized by Asahara et al. when they isolated CD34<sup>+</sup> cells from human peripheral blood and showed that these cells were capable of differentiation into ECs in vitro (Asahara et al., 1997). The EPCs have been shown to play a critical role in both vascular homeostasis and postnatal vasculogenesis (Khakoo and Finkel, 2005). Furthermore, the EPCs can incorporate into sites of angiogenesis in models of ischemia, hence proposing that enhancing EPC-dependent vasculogenesis could be used for therapeutic purposes in pathological situations (Asahara et al., 1997). However, these cells have also been proposed to play an essential role in the abnormal vascular growth occurring in tumors and it has been shown that ablation of EPCs can reduce tumor growth (Mellick et al., 2010). In addition, compared to healthy controls, increased numbers of circulating EPCs have been found in lung cancer patients (Nowak et al., 2010). The potential therapeutic usefulness of EPCs therefore demonstrates opposite purposes in different

pathological situations: (i) In ischemic tissue EPCs could be used to increase vessel growth and (ii) in tissues with abnormal vessel growth (such as tumors), EPCs could be targeted in order to inhibit further vessel expansion.

#### Adult neurogenesis

#### **Concept of neurogenesis**

The term stem cell means that a cell is capable of self-renewal and to give rise to a clonal progeny capable of differentiation. To be named neural stem cell (NSC), the cell needs to be capable of producing the three major cell types of the brain: neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes (Figure 1). NSCs can give rise to neural progenitor cells (NPCs) that are restricted to the neuronal lineage (Zitnik and Martin, 2002).



*Figure 1.* Schematic illustration of the neuronal stem cell lineage in the brain where neural stem cells divide to give rise to new neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes (illustration made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin).

Neurogenesis is the mechanism by which new neurons are generated from neural stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs). This is most pronounced during embryonic/prenatal development when the newly born neurons populate different areas in the continuously growing brain. The existence of neurogenesis in the adult brain has however historically been extensively questioned.

In the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, most neuroscientist including Ramon y Cajal, believed that the adult brain had a definite number of cells without regenerative capacity (Stahnisch and Nitsch, 2002). However, this general consensus was later challenged by Joseph Altman when he discovered that the adult rat brain actually did contain newborn neurons (Altman and Das, 1965). The existence of adult neurogenesis has been observed in many mammals but also in other non-mammalian species, e.g. in insects, reptiles and birds (Goldman and Nottebohm, 1983, Font et al., 1991, Cayre et al., 1996). This indicates that adult neurogenesis could represent an evolutionary ancient phenomenon. Compared to neurogenesis in the embryo, neurogenesis in the adult brain is however considerably limited.

#### Adult neurogenic areas

Today, neurogenesis is accepted to exist in two areas of the adult brain: (i) adult neurogenesis occurs is the subventricular zone (SVZ) located in the walls of the lateral ventricles. Progenitor cells born in the SVZ migrate long distances via the rostral migratory stream (RMS) to the olfactory bulb (OB) where they differentiate into new interneurons (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2008). In the current thesis we have however not studied the SVZ but instead focused on (ii) the subgranular zone (SGZ) located at the border between the hilus and the granule cell layer (GCL) of the hippocampal dentate gyrus (DG). Neurogenesis in the SGZ gives rise to new granule cells which make

#### INTRODUCTION

dendritic connections within the molecular layer (ML), followed by axonal connections with the hippocampal CA3 region (Kempermann et al., 2004a, Frielingsdorf and Kuhn, 2007, Grote and Hannan, 2007, Ming and Song, 2011). As much as 80-85% of the granule cells are generated after birth in the rodent DG, (Bayer, 1980). Kempermann et al. have shown that the majority of new granule cells born in the adult rodent brain stay within the inner third of the GCL (Kempermann et al., 2003). This was further supported by the finding that stem cells and their progeny only give rise to about 1% of the granule cells in the outer adult GCL (Lagace et al., 2007). Furthermore, it has been shown that hippocampal neural stem cells have vascular endfeet, a feature normally attributed to astrocytes. It was therefore proposed that these radial glia-like stem cells arise from astrocytes (Filippov et al., 2003), commonly referred to as type-1 cells (Figure 2) (Kempermann et al., 2004a). This model has assumed that only one type of radial glia-like stem cell exists. However, it was recently shown that the adult DG has a population of antigenically heterogeneous radial glia-like stem cells (DeCarolis et al., 2013). In 1998, Peter Eriksson discovered that neurogenesis in the SGZ of the DG also occurs in the adult human brain and that neurogenesis is a lifelong process (Eriksson et al., 1998). The adult human hippocampus is estimated to generate 700 new neurons daily in each hemisphere. Furthermore, it was recently shown that the turnover rate of hippocampal neurons does not differ between females and males (Spalding et al., 2013).

#### INTRODUCTION



**Figure 2.** Development of neural stem cell to mature neuron in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. A model has proposed that new granule cells in the hippocampus are produced by six developmental milestones (starting with the type 1 cell and ending with a mature neuron) (Kempermann et al., 2004a). The cells express various markers during differentiation and maturation (some of them are outlined in the figure). The hippocampal circuit is usually described as trisynaptic. First, the mature granule cells in the GCL receive input from the entorhinal cortex via the perforant path. The granule cells, in turn, projects axons to CA3 neurons, where the signal is relayed through the Schaffer collateral fibers to the CA1 region. Finally the output of the hippocampus is relayed back to the entorhinal cortex (illustration made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin).

#### Apoptosis

Apoptosis or programmed cell death during mammalian development of the brain is an important process to eliminate superfluous or incorrectly functioning neurons (Kuhn et al., 2005). Every day as many as 9 000 new cells are produced through neurogenesis in the SGZ of the DG in a young adult male rat. But if all of these newly generated cells would survive, the number of cells in the GCL of the DG would be twice as great in only a few months. To prevent this, cells must be eliminated. Approximately half of the newly generated cells die during the first weeks of their life, independent of how old the animal is. The majority of dying cells in the GCL are immature neurons undergoing apoptosis when they shift from transiently amplifying progenitor cells to neuroblasts. Consequently, neurogenesis in the DG is probably not a process of replacement but rather refinement of the amount of new cells (Frielingsdorf and Kuhn, 2007, Sierra et al., 2010).

#### Prolonged postnatal neurogenesis in the cerebellum

Besides the two neurogenic regions, generation of new neurons is restricted to fetal development in most areas of the brain. However, similar to the DG, most interneurons in the GCL of the rodent cerebellum are formed during the first two postnatal weeks (Miale and Sidman, 1961). Furthermore, proliferation in the human cerebellum continues until the 11<sup>th</sup> postnatal month (Abraham et al., 2001). However, although significant postnatal neurogenesis occurs in the cerebellum it is not considered an adult neurogenic region. The cerebellum was first identified as important for motor functions but has also been linked to higher motor and cognitive functions such as language production and motor planning (Rapoport et al., 2000, Konczak and Timmann, 2007).

## **NEUROVASCULAR NICHE**

The concept of a specific vascular niche within the neurogenic areas was first described by Palmer et al. when they showed that newly generated neurons in the hippocampus were associated with dividing ECs (Palmer et al., 2000). This suggested that NPCs and ECs either respond to the same mitogenic signals or that the cell division of one cell type generates mitogens that in turn triggers the mitotic expansion of the other (Goldman and Chen, 2011). Hence, further studies were needed in order to verify the functional implication of such a specialized vascular niche. Accordingly, *in vitro* experiments showed that ECs release soluble factors that are involved in maintaining the multipotency of stem cells, as well as stimulating self-renewal and increasing neuronal production (Shen et al., 2004). When angiogenesis is pharmacologically inhibited by endostatin, decreased angiogenesis is accompanied by reduced neurogenesis (Nih et al., 2012). Furthermore, stem cells are in close contact with the basal membrane of ECs by extending vascular end feet (Filippov et al., 2003).

When the vascular systems of two mice of different ages were surgically joined together by parabiosis, neurogenesis in the young mouse decreased while neurogenesis in the old mouse increased. A link between age-related reduction in neurogenesis and intrinsic factors in the blood was hence proposed (Villeda et al., 2011). Moreover, the importance of the microenvironment was demonstrated when cerebellar precursors were ectopically transplanted into the DG of neonatal rats, where they integrated into the hippocampal GCL. The transplanted neurons were morphologically similar to hippocampal neurons and expressed the same cell-type specific proteins (Vicario-Abejon et al., 1995). In addition, when striatal progenitor cells were transplanted into cortical environment they adopted features specific for cortical neurons (Fishell, 1995). The microenvironment has

consequently been proposed to determine the regional fate of neural precursors.

#### **Blood brain barrier**

The blood brain barrier (BBB) is a physical and metabolic barrier that separates the CNS from the systemic circulation. Physiologically, the BBB is mainly composed of three different cellular elements: ECs, astrocytic endfeet and pericytes (Figure 3). However, it is believed that other cell types such as microglia are also involved in the most important and crucial feature of the BBB which is to maintain homeostasis and limit the penetration of pathogens and toxins into the brain. This is maintained by restricted and regulated exchange of different molecules between the blood stream and the brain (Correale and Villa, 2009, Goldberg and Hirschi, 2009, Tam and Watts, 2010). The BBB is established during fetal development and is well functional by birth (Abbott et al., 2010). Vulnerability of the BBB has been proposed to be age-dependent with increased susceptibility to hypoxia ischemia and inflammation in younger animals (Semple et al., 2013).



**Figure 3**. Illustration of the different cell types involved in maintaining the blood BBB together with other important cell types in this thesis. The BBB physically consists of microvessels (red) with inner lining of endothelial cells (purple), surrounding pericytes (green) and astrocytic endfeets (yellow). Microglia (purple) has also been proposed to play an important role in the BBB by the defense against pathogens. Finally, oligodendrocytes (blue) generate myelin sheaths that wrap around neuronal axons (grey). The astrocyte has contact with both vessels and neurons, thereby acting as a key mediator between these two cell types (illustration made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin).

#### **Endothelial cells**

The ECs constitute the inner lining of blood vessels and are therefore considered the key component of the BBB. Vascular endothelium is so called semipermeable, which means that the transport into and out of the blood is regulated. However, ECs display an enormous heterogeneity in both morphology and permeability between different organs and a number of physiological properties make the endothelium in the CNS distinct from the vasculature found in the periphery. CNS-derived ECs are connected by tight junctions, lack fenestrations and have low numbers of pinocytotic vesicles (Rubin and Staddon, 1999, Goldberg and Hirschi, 2009, Segura et al., 2009), thereby ensuring a highly regulated exchange between the brain and the blood circulation. Interestingly, transplantation experiments have revealed that BBB properties are not intrinsic to ECs but rather a consequence of signals from the environment within the brain (Stewart and Wiley, 1981). However, DNA microarrays have revealed different transcriptional profiles of ECs from different tissues and from large vessels and microvessels, thereby suggesting that maintaining a specific endothelial phenotype is not exclusively dependent on environmental signals (Chi et al., 2003).

In humans, ECs have an average lifespan of around 1 year and proliferation of ECs in the mature vascular system is generally considered stable with infrequent cell turnover. However, ECs are not an inert cell type but rather highly metabolic and involved in many crucial processes such as: leukocyte infiltration, permeability, regulating the proliferation and survival of surrounding cells, maintaining homeostatic balance and regulating vasomotor tone (Hirschi et al., 2002, Aird, 2007, Goldberg and Hirschi, 2009). Originally, the ECs were considered the ultimate compartment of the BBB but nowadays other cell types have also been identified as key components.

#### Pericytes

All vessels have an inner lining of ECs surrounded by perivascular mural cells. Microvessels are associated with solitary pericytes while larger vessels instead are associated with several layers of vascular smooth muscle cells. During development, ECs of immature vessels secrete growth factors to attract pericytes. The pericytes extend processes that wrap around the wall of microvessels and they are considered important for microvessel stability. Importantly, ECs and pericytes share the same basement membrane which enables them to communicate directly. Maturation of vessels is associated with attachment of pericytes to the vessel wall (Lindahl et al., 1997, Ramsauer et al., 2002, Bergers and Song, 2005, Lee et al., 2009). The role of pericytes can be compared to that of oligodendrocytes, which are responsible for the myelination of neurons in the CNS; both oligodendrocytes and pericytes support and enhance the function of the cell type that they enclose (Tam and Watts, 2010).

Pericytes are an important compartment of both the neurovascular niche and the BBB. It has been proposed that a mature vascular network consisting of both ECs and smooth muscle cells is crucial for the survival of neuroblasts after cerebral ischemia (Nih et al., 2012). The vasculature in the CNS harbors the highest pericyte coverage compared to other investigated organs. It is interesting to note that increased pericyte density and/or coverage appear to correlate well with barrier properties of the endothelium. In addition, slow endothelial turnover is correlated with high pericyte coverage, and vice versa (Allt and Lawrenson, 2001, Lee et al., 2009, Armulik et al., 2011). Furthermore, pericytes exhibit contractile properties and can regulate the blood flow at the capillary level by modulating capillary diameter (Peppiatt et al., 2006). Pericyte loss is associated with pathological BBB breakdown, resulting in increased BBB permeability (Armulik et al., 2010, Bell et al., 2010). Interestingly, pericytes have been implicated to act as brain phagocytes at sites with BBB properties (van Deurs, 1976), a role that is normally ascribed to perivascular microglia.

#### Microglia

Microglia are the main cells of the immune system in the CNS and in the brain represent approximately 10% of the adult cell population. They arise from myeloid cells that during early embryonic development migrate from the yolk sac to the brain. In the brain, microglia progenitors give rise to mature microglia that sustain a population in the adult brain by in situ proliferation. In mice, the majority of microglia are produced during the first two postnatal weeks (Alliot et al., 1999, Ajami et al., 2007). Depending on their activation state, microglia can exhibit both beneficial and detrimental effects on adult neurogenesis (Kohman and Rhodes, 2013). In the so called resting state, microglia have a small cell body with many fine processes and survey the surrounding for signs of damage or infection as well as maintaining homeostasis. However, in response to harmful stimuli microglia undergo several important characteristic changes such as increased proliferation, retraction of processes and swelling of the cell body. In addition, they start releasing several proinflammatory molecules which initiates the inflammatory response (Monje et al., 2002, Kohman and Rhodes, 2013). Furthermore, cocultures of brain ECs and human blood-derived macrophages decrease paracellular permeability, thereby proposing that these cells play an active role in BBB maintenance and physiology (Zenker et al., 2003).

Microglia also play a very important role during development by quickly eliminating excessive newborn cells in the SGZ through phagocytosis. Importantly, this phagocytosis by microglia does not involve activation of

28

microglia, proposing that phagocytosis is possible without complete microglia activation (Sierra et al., 2010). Cocultures of NPCs and microglia have shown that microglia can enhance postnatal neurogenesis in the SVZ (Walton et al., 2006). Furthermore, a cross-talk between microglia and newly formed neurons has been proposed as beneficial for neurogenesis (Ekdahl et al., 2009).

#### Astrocytes

Although glial cells are the most abundant cell type in the brain they were originally considered as supportive and passive cell types. Astrocytes account for around 50% of all glial cells in the brain and outnumber neurons by four times in higher mammals. Typically, astrocytes have a stellate shape, thereby the name, with multiple processes extended towards neurons and blood vessels. One single astrocyte can contact several vessels and synapses and it is therefore believed that astrocytes function as key mediators of neurovascular coordination. In fact, it has been proposed that the anatomical position of astrocytes could affect blood flow regulation by delivering signals between neurons and vessels. In addition, astrocytes are involved in the regulation and maintenance of the BBB (Allen and Barres, 2009, Lee et al., 2009, Greene-Schloesser et al., 2012). Astrocytes aid in the guidance of neurons in order for them to make the proper connections during fetal development of the brain (Virgintino et al., 1998). Furthermore, migrating neuroblasts in the RMS are surrounded by a network of astrocytes, referred to as the glial tube and bi-directional signals between the two cell types have been shown to regulate proliferation and migration of the neuroblasts (Cleary et al., 2006).

## WHITE MATTER

The CNS is divided into two main components: white matter, which consists mostly of glial cells and myelinated axons, and gray matter, which consists mostly of neuronal cell bodies. White matter was historically viewed as a relatively passive tissue but recent research has shown that an intact white matter is important to maintain cognitive functions such as information processing (Palmer et al., 2012). Interestingly, MRI studies have revealed sexual differences in the density of gray and white matter. Men had a higher density of white matter and women had a higher density of gray matter. Moreover, men had a higher density of gray matter in the left hemisphere. For white matter no asymmetry was detected for men, and women showed no asymmetry for neither white nor gray matter (Gur et al., 1999). Furthermore, the general consensus is that the male brain is around 8-10% larger than the female brain. The brain continues to grow after birth and it has been shown that females reach maximum volume earlier than males (10.5 years in females and 14.5 years in males) (Lenroot et al., 2007).

#### **Corpus callosum**

The corpus callosum forms an axonal bridge that connects cortical neurons from the two cerebral hemispheres (Figure 4). Functions related to the unification of the hemispheres include e.g. memory retrieval and storage, enhancing language and auditory function. The corpus callosum is the largest white matter commissure in the brain with approximately 200 million fibers, a number that is already set around birth. However, important structural changes such as myelination, pruning and redirection occur during postnatal development (Luders et al., 2010). The corpus callosum continues to grow during childhood and adolescence with the highest growth peak during the first years in life (Lenroot and Giedd, 2006).



Figure 4. Sagittal illustration of a mouse brain with specific regions of interest for the current thesis outlined: cerebellum; CB, corpus callosum; CC and dentate gyrus; DG. The illustration also shows the olfactory bulb; OB, rostral migratory stream; RMS and subventricular zone; SVZ (illustration made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin).

#### Oligodendrocytes

Oligodendrocytes generate myelin sheaths that wrap around neuronal axons to increase the neurotransmission within the CNS. The density of oligodendrocytes is remarkably similar between humans and rodents, although of course humans have significantly superior total numbers (Bradl and Lassmann, 2010). However, the density of oligodendrocytes differs between males and females, with the highest densities observed in males. In this aspect it is surprising that the proliferation of new glial cells (predominantly oligodendrocytes and astrocytes) in females is twice as high as the proliferation in males. This could however be explained by the fact that females also have twice the number of apoptotic glial cells. It was therefore proposed that oligodendrocytes in females have a more rapid cell turnover than oligodendrocytes in males (Cerghet et al., 2006, Cerghet et al., 2009). Historically, myelination in humans was considered to be completed during the first years of life but it is nowadays recognized that myelination continues into the second and third decades of life (Semple et al., 2013). Interestingly, females have been proposed to have more unmyelinated fibers than males. However it has been shown that this ratio changes with age. The volume of white matter, myelinated fibers and myelin sheaths is significantly larger in young males compared to young female rodents, followed by the reversed ratio in middle-aged rodents (Cerghet et al., 2009).

## **CHILDHOOD CANCERS**

In Sweden around 50 000 persons per year are diagnosed with cancer. This number is immense compared to the approximately 300 children and adolescents every year diagnosed with malignancies. Although pediatric cancers represent only a fraction of all diagnoses, the increasing number of childhood cancer survivors is creating a public health issue as they transition into adulthood since they today constitute a population which did not exist before. Pediatric cancers are slightly more frequent in boys than girls and are most common in children between 2 and 6 years. (Barncancerrapporten, 2013). After the leukemias, brain tumors are the most common type of pediatric cancers and account for approximately 20-30% of all childhood malignancies. However, it should be noted that malignant neoplasms before the age of 20 are rare (Parkin et al., 1988, Steliarova-Foucher et al., 2004). In both children and adolescents diagnosed with brain tumors, the survival rates have improved significantly during the last decades and the 5-year survival is today more than 80% (Steliarova-Foucher et al., 2004, Gustafsson et al., 2013). However, with the emergence of increased survival rates it became progressively clear that many of the long-term survivors exhibit multiple so called late effects. In fact, a study proposed that as much as 96% of pediatric brain tumor survivors suffer from late effects (Han et al., 2009).

## Radiotherapy

Cancer in both children and adults is treated with a combination of chemotherapy, radiotherapy and surgery, however the treatment protocols differ significantly. This is due to the fact that children generally tolerate chemotherapy better than adults but are at the same time extremely susceptive to radiotherapy (Barncancerrapporten, 2013), mostly because they are still growing and developing. Cranial radiotherapy is usually not even considered in children younger than 4 years of age. Even very small doses of radiation can therefore cause significant damage in children and may influence cognitive function into adulthood (Hall et al., 2004). Radiotherapy is historically the treatment strategy associated with the most complications, but improved protocols during the last decades have significantly reduced these problems. However, the complications still exhibit a major limitation in the treatment. Since radiotherapy commonly is combined with other treatment modalities it complicates the discrimination of what negative effects are attributed to radiation alone and what effects that are due to chemotherapy, surgery and the disease itself.

Cranial radiotherapy is associated with multiple late effects that last into adulthood such as psychological-emotional dysfunction, intellectual and memory impairments and perturbed growth an puberty (Lannering et al., 1990a, Lannering et al., 1990b, Kuhn and Blomgren, 2011). Young age and female gender are associated with greater negative effects, such as cognitive decline (Ris et al., 2001, Fouladi et al., 2005, Lahteenmaki et al., 2007). Furthermore, some of the observed effects could be due to white matter damage as younger age at the time of irradiation significantly reduces white matter volume (Reddick et al., 2000, Mulhern et al., 2001, Palmer et al., 2012).

#### **Radiobiological effects**

During radiotherapy there is a delicate balance between the goal of killing all malignant cells but at the same time sparing normal cells from damage. Ionizing radiation means that the radiation has enough energy to create ions in its passage through matter. The major effect of ionizing radiation is DNA damage caused either directly or indirectly. In the direct pathway the DNA molecule is directly damaged by irradiation while in the indirect pathway free radicals are created, which in turn cause DNA damage. Both pathways can create single or double strand breaks of the DNA molecule (Gudkov and Komarova, 2003, Lieberman, 2008, Magnander and Elmroth, 2012). Cells are more vulnerable when they are dividing, and since cancer cells divide more rapidly they have higher susceptibility to radiation than normal cells. Normal cells can therefore generally recover from the effects of radiation more easily than cancer cells can. Radiotherapy exploits the small difference in radiosensitivity between tumor cells and normal cells, referred to as the therapeutic index or therapeutic ratio (Dunne-Daly, 1999, Thoms and Bristow, 2010). However, irradiation targets all cells and it is therefore impossible to completely spare the normal tissue. The normal tissue hence becomes the dose-limiting factor during radiotherapy with the goal to damage as few normal and healthy cells as possible.

It is primarily differences in proliferation that account for the different radiosensitivity between different cell types since the biological effects of radiation is usually not visible until the cell tries to divide. Consequently, in high proliferation cells such as tumor cells and normal rapidly dividing cells (e.g. neural progenitor cells); the effects are observed early after irradiation. However, in non-dividing cells such as postmitotic neurons and rarely diving cells the effects will be observed much later. Following irradiation, a cell can undergo apoptosis, mitotic catastrophe, and permanent or temporary growth arrest while trying to repair the damage. Frequently dividing cells often undergo apoptosis or mitotic catastrophe after irradiation, while less frequently dividing cells to a greater extent either complete DNA repair or enter a stage of growth arrest. Tumor cells undergo mitotic catastrophe to a greater extent than other cell types since they have an unstable genome, lost their regulation of growth, have a dysfunctional repair system and often also lost their capability to undergo apoptosis (Gudkov and Komarova, 2003).
# GENERAL AIM

The aim of this thesis was to investigate how the neurovascular niche is affected by irradiation to the developing brain. This was done in order to increase the knowledge about how neurogenesis could be restored after irradiation and hopefully also result in beneficial effects on behavior.

# **SPECIFIC AIMS**

- I. To investigate structural effects on the vasculature after irradiation in both neurogenic and non-neurogenic areas
- **II.** To investigate the radiation-induced effects on neurogenesis, both short-term and long-term
- **III.** To investigate if and how the neurovascular niche is altered after irradiation
- **IV.** To investigate the molecular response of endothelial cells to irradiation

# METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The following section describes the most important methods used in this thesis. I have tried to highlight pros and cons of each individual method, as well as problems that may occur. For detailed descriptions of the specific experimental procedures, please read the material and methods section for each individual paper/manuscript.

### ANIMALS

In the current thesis we only utilized animal experiments (*in vivo*) as a model of irradiation-induced damaged to the developing brain. Another possibility would have been to use cell culture models (*in vitro*) which are very useful and sometimes can replace *in vivo* models partly or completely. However, the main focus on the current thesis was the neurovascular niche that contains many different cell types. Currently used *in vitro* models of brain vasculature do not recapitulate the *in vivo* complexity of the neurovascular niche. We therefore chose to use *in vivo* models only in order to study a complete system where all cell types and physiological responses are included.

### Ethical permission

Before conducting animal experiments, all parts of the experimental design need to be approved, previously by the Swedish Animal Welfare Agency (Djurskyddsmyndigheten), currently by the Swedish Board of Agriculture (Jordbruksverket). This procedure ensures that the well-being of the animals is always prioritized. Animals were housed with *ad libitum* access to food and water and carefully monitored. All experimental designs in this paper were thoroughly reviewed and approved by the ethical committee (applications no. 6/2007, 30/2008, 423/2008, 326/2009 and 361/11).

C57BL/6 mice delivered from Charles River Breeding Laboratories in Germany were used in all four papers. In papers I, II and IV, only male mice were used but in paper III we used mice of both sexes to investigate different responses to irradiation between the sexes. If possible, the animals were delivered several days before the irradiation procedure to acclimatize and avoid unnecessary stress that could influence the outcome of the experiment.

### **IRRADIATION MODEL**

In our model of irradiation we use a linear accelerator with 4 megavoltage nominal photon energy (Varian Clinac 600 CD) located at the Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Gothenburg to irradiate the developing mouse brain. This accelerator is normally used for radiotherapy of patients (Figure 5). The advantage of using the same irradiation source as that used for radiotherapy of patients is that we come closer to mimicking the clinical settings. The downside is that this adds an extra stress to the animals since they need to be transported by car between the hospital and the animal facility.

### General irradiation procedure

In order for the animals to stay completely still during the irradiation procedure, all animals (both control and irradiated) were anesthetized with an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of tribromoethanol (Avertin<sup>®</sup>). Tribromoethanol is an injectable anesthetic agent that is used during short experimental procedures such as surgery. Repeated use of tribromoethanol is associated with increased morbidity and mortality, which is why tribromoethanol is recommended for single use only. This is one reason why the animals in our studies do not receive fractionated irradiation.

#### METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The animals were kept on a warm bed (36°C) both before and after irradiation to maintain the body temperature and physiological parameters when separated from the mother. This step is very important, not only to aid survival, but also since hypothermia decreases the radiosensitivity in the tissue and thereby may mask some of the radiation-induced effects. Control animals were anesthetized and kept on a warm bed but did not receive any irradiation.



Figure 5. The irradiation model used in this thesis where the mice were irradiated with a linear accelerator normally used for patients (illustration made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin).

Different radiation qualities (e.g. photons, protons, particles) deposit their energy at different depths during their journey through matter (in our case the brain). In external radiation therapy, a variety of energy sources/radiation qualities can be utilized but the most commonly used for patients are megavoltage photons. For radiation with megavoltage photons, the deposited dose of radiation is low at the skin and the maximum dose is in fact not achieved until several cm into the tissue. This type of irradiation therefore exhibits skin-sparing properties and is very useful in the treatment of many human cancers. However, it is problematic for treatment of superficial lesions in close relation to the skin.

Irradiation with megavoltage photons was used in all papers of this thesis. This type of irradiation is however problematic for our experimental model of whole brain irradiation (rats and mice) since we want the whole brain to be irradiated with the same dose. Given that maximal dose is deposited several centimeters into the tissue, in our case brains not bigger than a kidney bean, most of the brain would not receive the desired irradiation dose. Therefore, the head is covered with a tissue equivalent material (bolus) to obtain an even radiation dose in the recipient tissue. The bolus material builds up the radiation dose prior to entry of the beams into the brain, and thereby increases the radiation dose deposited at the surface. As a consequence, the maximum dose of radiation is delivered throughout the brain.

#### **Clinical perspective**

In all papers/manuscripts in the current thesis, mice were irradiated on postnatal day 14 (P14). Our ultimate aim is to correlate human brain development with the mouse so that the experimental effects we observe could be directly transferred into the clinic. However, there are major

differences between human and rodent brain development which significantly complicates this translation (for review see Semple et al., 2013).

When radiation is used for therapeutic purposes, the total dose is divided into different fractions (usually 2 Gy/fraction). This treatment strategy is used to kill cancer cells but at the same time spare normal tissue as much as possible (Kuhn and Blomgren, 2011). It has previously been reported that fractions above 2 Gy should be avoided due to severe tissue damage as a result (Soussain et al., 2009). The optimal scenario would have been to use fractionated doses also in our experimental studies. However, the mice in this thesis were only exposed to single doses of irradiation. This is due to several practical reasons such as the previously mentioned anesthesia issue, stress during transportation and the potential risk of infections when bringing animals back and forth between the animal facility and the hospital. For those reasons, we use the LQ formula to estimate the equivalent dose of 8 and 10 Gy, respectively, if it instead had been delivered in 2 Gy fractions (Fowler, 1989). A single dose of 8 Gy then corresponds to approximately 18 Gy for late effects in normal brain tissue, which is the dose that is delivered for example to the brains and spinal cords of children with relapse leukemia. In addition, a single dose of 10 Gy corresponds to 26 Gy, which is similar to the dose that is delivered to children with medulloblastoma. Compared to the doses that are delivered to the tumor bed of solid brain tumors (up to 60 Gy), the doses we used are therefore considered as relatively moderate doses of irradiation. However, we should always keep in mind that single and fractionated irradiation will have slightly different radiobiological responses. For example, it has been shown that the molecular response to fractionated irradiation is slower compared to irradiation with a single dose which results in a rapid response (Gaber et al., 2003, Yuan et al., 2006).

### TISSUE PREPARATION

Tissue preparation is one of the most important steps to consider for the optimizing of downstream analysis. The aim is to preserve the 3D structure of the tissue and allow further processing without change. Important objectives to consider when choosing your fixative are therefore preservation of cellular structure, rapid penetration of the fixative into the tissue and avoidance of autofluorescence.

In papers I-III in the current thesis, tissue for histological studies was fixated by transcardial perfusion with physiological saline (0.9%) or PBS followed by perfusion with formaldehyde solution. The rinsing with saline is important since it expels red blood cells from the vasculature, thereby reducing autofluorescence. Furthermore, the perfusion with formaldehyde enables a more rapid fixation of the tissue and thereby increased preservation. To ensure complete fixation, the tissue is also post-fixed in formaldehyde for 24 hours. The advantage of perfusion fixation is apparent when considering that the penetration rate of formaldehyde is around 24 hours to penetrate the center of a 10 mm thick specimen, i.e. approximately 5 mm per day. However, one major drawback of perfusion with formalin is that fixed tissue does not allow for protein analysis such as ELISA and western blot.

Formaldehyde is the most common fixative for histology studies. In papers I and II, formalin fixation was performed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution freshly prepared in the lab. However, due to the hazard risk when preparing and using paraformaldehyde solutions, many laboratories now seek safer alternatives. As a consequence, a solution called Histofix has emerged on the market. Histofix is a buffered 6% formaldehyde solution that eliminates problems associated with toxicity, since it is ready to use without any preparation. In addition, high quality and stability of Histofix enable high

reproducibility between different studies. In paper III, we therefore chose to use Histofix instead of PFA.

### STAINING PROCEDURES

#### General procedure of immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) is a method that utilizes the binding of antibodies to detect antigens in a tissue. The binding of an antibody (primary antibody) to its antigen is visualized through different detection systems that can be either direct or indirect and that is visualized by either a fluorescent dye or a chromogenic signal. The direct procedure is quick since the primary antibody is directly conjugated to a label. In comparison, the indirect method utilizes a two-step reaction where the primary antibody is visualized by a labeled secondary antibody (raised against the host species of the primary antibody). The direct method is faster, easily used for multicolor labeling and eliminates the potential nonspecific binding of the secondary antibody arising during indirect labeling. However, the indirect method generally has higher sensitivity than the direct method since the signal is amplified through the use of a secondary antibody that enables the binding of more than one secondary antibody to each primary antibody. Indirect labeling by IHC has been the key method throughout this thesis due to its increased signal amplification.

There are different kinds of primary antibodies. Polyclonal antibodies are usually isolated from serum and are a mixture of antibodies that recognize several epitopes of an antigen. Since the antibody can bind to more than one epitope, polyclonal antibodies can yield increased signal of the target protein. In addition, due to quick and large quantity production, these antibodies are generally cheap. The other class of antibodies is so called monoclonal antibodies. These antibodies only recognize one epitope and therefore decrease background and potential cross-reactivity. The monoclonal antibodies are produced in smaller quantities and are therefore generally more expensive.

### Possible amplification steps

The signal of the staining can be further amplified by utilizing the strong binding between avidin or streptavidin to biotin. In fact, each avidin/strepavidin molecule can bind as many as 4 biotin molecules. When using a biotinylated antibody (primary or secondary), the signal can be amplified by either an avidin-biotin complex (ABC method) or by streptavidin that is conjugated to either an enzyme or a fluorochrome.

For single labeling of different proteins and quantification with light microscope, we have used the ABC kit where a complex of avidin and the enzyme horseradish peroxidase (HRP) is created by incubation prior to addition to the tissue. The avidin-HRP complex is added following incubation with biotinylated secondary antibody. In the final stage, a solution with 3,3' duaminobenzidine (DAB) is added and the HRP enzyme coverts DAB to a colored product (brown). In the current thesis we have also added NiCl<sub>2</sub> that makes the color black instead of brown.

In paper III we used streptavidin amplification for visualization of tomato lectin. Neither lectin nor streptavidin are conventional antibodies. Lectins are proteins that bind more or less selectively to carbohydrate-moieties on glycoproteins. In the case of tomato lectin the target is glycophorin and Tamm-Horsfall glycoprotein. Furthermore, streptavidin bind to biotin with high affinity. The primary "antibody" (tomato lectin) was conjugated to biotin and added to the tissue where it bound its "antigen". This was followed by addition of a secondary "antibody" consisting of streptavidin conjugated to a fluorophore.

#### **Fluorescent molecules**

Fluorescence is the phenomenon arising through a three-step process that occurs in specific molecules called fluorophores. First, the fluorophore absorbs a photon that results in that an electron changing from the ground state to an excited vibrational state with higher energy. Secondly, the excited molecule collides with other molecules and thereby loses energy until it reaches the lowest excited state. This step is called the excited state life time. Thirdly, the electron decays back to the ground state and at the same time releases a photon. Since energy is lost when the electron is in its exited state, the emitted photon is always of lower energy (longer wavelength) than the excitation photon. The signal that you visualize in a microscope is the emitted photon.

All fluorophores have characteristic wavelengths for both excitation and emission. The traditional fluorescent dyes (e.g. FITC and PI) have broad fluorescence spectra which makes them difficult to use when doing multicolor labeling. These are also very sensitive to photo bleaching. Photo bleaching is an irreversible process meaning that the fluorescent probe permanently loses its ability to fluoresce. Newer fluorophores such as the Alexa Fluor<sup>®</sup> dyes instead have narrow spectra and are more photostable. In this thesis, we have therefore almost exclusively used the Alexa fluorophores.

Some antigens are more easily visualized than other. In addition, different fluorophores produce differently strong signals (Alexa 488 is for example generally stronger than Alexa 555 or Alexa 594). In order to optimize the staining and be able to visualize all antigens, it is therefore preferable to combine the weakest antigen with the strongest fluorophore, and vice versa. With indirect IHC, a relatively small number of secondary antibodies are needed in order for you to decide from analysis to analysis what fluorophore that you want to use in order to detect a certain antigen. However, for the direct IHC you need to label each primary antibody with the desired fluorophore, hence significantly increasing the amount of antibodies needed.

Rapid photo bleaching of the fluorophores can be inhibited by using an antifade mounting media. In the current thesis we used ProLong Gold antifade reagent (with and without DAPI as nuclei stain) which cure within 24 hours, forming a semi-rigid gel. Following this, samples can be stored for months.

#### Antigen blocking

Non-specific binding of antibodies needs to be prevented by blocking. This is done by adding an excess of blocking agent to saturate any nonspecific binding sites that your antibody could otherwise bind to. The blocking is done prior to the addition of antibodies, and the blocking is present in all antibody steps during the staining procedure. Commonly used blocking agents are bovine serum albumin, gelatin or normal serum from the same animal species that the secondary antibody was raised in. In the current thesis we blocked unspecific binding by the use of donkey serum since all secondary antibodies used were raised in donkey.

### LABELING OF PROLIFERATING CELLS

In all tissues in our body, new cells are continuously being produced to replace old, damaged or dying cells. This is accomplished by cell division that is intimately regulated during normal homeostasis. New cells are generated from preexisting cells by several defined stages in the cell cycle. The cell cycle consists of growth phases (G1 and G2), synthesis of DNA (S) and cell division (M). During the cell cycle, the DNA is duplicated and the two copies are then divided into two identical daughter cells. The cell cycle

also contains several crucial checkpoints that regulate the continuation or interruption of the cell cycle (Figure 6).



**Figure 6.** The cell cycle with three important checkpoints outlined. Note that the true duration of the different phases is not correlated to its size within the figure. The M phase is for example very short while longest time is usually spent in the G1 phase (illustration made by Simon Lundholm @ 300Kelvin).

### **BrdU** labeling

Labeling of newborn cells can be accomplished by incorporation of thymidine analogs into the DNA during the S phase of the cell cycle (Kuhn and Peterson, 2008). Thymidine is unique in the sense that it exists in DNA but not in RNA (Kuhn and Cooper-Kuhn, 2007). The incorporated thymidine analogs can later be detected by IHC and thereby allow a "birth-dating" of

cells (Kuhn and Peterson, 2008). A cell will be permanently labeled with thymidine analogues as long as the signal is not diluted by subsequent divisions. Therefore, after a long period of time, detectable cells are those that have survived and at the time of thymidine analog injection were going through its final cell divisions (Kuhn and Cooper-Kuhn, 2007).

The most commonly used thymidine analog is 5-bromo-2-deoxy-uridine (BrdU) which can be given repeatedly for the purpose of labeling additional cells. BrdU is a synthetic nucleoside that competes with endogenous thymidine for incorporation into the DNA during the replication phase. BrdU is exogenously administered by i.p. injection. Since BrdU is incorporated into the cells during the S phase, it is important to be aware of the fact that BrdU can not only be incorporated into dividing cells but also into postmitotic cells undergoing DNA repair. It is therefore of great importance to use recommended low doses of BrdU (50 mg/kg body weight) to make sure that cells that undergo DNA repair do not incorporate enough BrdU to be detected during IHC (Cooper-Kuhn and Kuhn, 2002). An interval of about 4 weeks between labeling and detection is sufficient to recognize which cells that have survived and differentiated into neurons (Kempermann et al., 2003). In that sense BrdU incorporation can be used to measure survival of cells as well as differentiation of e.g. neurons. However, in the current thesis, BrdU incorporation was only used as a measurement of cell survival.

#### Cell cycle markers

Proliferating cells can be detected by different antibodies with the help of IHC. Antibodies that label either all active stages of the cell cycle or part of the cell cycle can be used. Therefore, the antibody of choice depends on what target protein you are interested in looking at. If you aim at identifying all proliferating cells or know that you have very few proliferating cells, PCNA

could be a good choice since it is expressed during all active phases of the cell cycle (G1/S/G2/M). However, if you instead want to narrow your analysis or reduce the number of labeled cells you could use Ki67 that is expressed during S/G2/M phases. Furthermore, phospho-histone H3 is only detected during G2 and M phases and therefore offers an even more specific resolution of the cell cycle. A combination of these markers could also be used in order to specifically target certain phases of the cell cycle.

## STEREOLOGY

Stereology is a method that uses random and systematic sampling to generate unbiased and quantitative data. Stereological principles were used for cell counting, volume measurements and blood vessel analysis. All stereological analyses were performed with a Leica light microscope on DAB-stained sections, which has the advantage that they do not bleach by light. The Leica microscope was connected to a computer with the stereology system Stereo Investigator from MBF Bioscience.

### Landmarks

Well defined landmarks are needed to ensure that all analyses are performed in an identical and objective manner possible. All histological analyses such as cell counting, volume measurements etc always started at the first section with a clearly separated dorsal and ventral hippocampus. Accordingly, the analysis ended at the last mid-sagittal section with a clearly curved GCL.

All analyses were performed by an investigator blinded to the treatment of the animals. In addition, the same analysis were always performed by one single person since individual variations otherwise could interfere with the outcome of the analysis.

#### **Volume measurements**

For volume measurements, the area of interest was traced (usually at 10x magnification) for all sections with separated dorsal and ventral hippocampus. Total volumes were then calculated according to the Cavalieri principle with the following formula:  $V = SA \times P \times T$ , where V is the total volume, SA is the sum of the area measurement, P is the inverse of the sampling fraction and T is the section thickness (25 µm in this thesis). Volume measurements of the different areas in the DG are shown in Figure 7.



*Figure 7.* Representative picture showing the CD31 microvessel staining in the dentate gyrus and the schematic drawings of how the different regions were traced (granule cell layer; GCL and molecular cell layer; ML). Figure modified from Bostrom et al., 2013 (paper I).

### **Cell counting**

When using a microscope to count cells, several different criteria can be used to define if a cell is considered as positive or negative. You start by looking at the intensity of the staining, secondly at the morphology of the cell and finally where the cell is located. Some antibodies used to define stem cells are for example present in multiple different cell types except NSPCs. In order to identify the true stem cells you therefore need to make sure that they are present in the neurogenic areas of the brain. In addition, some markers need colabeling with other marker to be considered specific for NSPCs. In that case confocal microscopy is needed (reviewed later). All cell counts in the current thesis were performed on every  $12^{th}$  section throughout one hemisphere of the brain. The counted cells were then multiplied by 12 to acquire the total amount of cells in the brain.

### Vessel morphology

To our knowledge, assessment of vascular changes after moderate doses of irradiation to the developing brain has not been thoroughly studied previously. In the current thesis we therefore investigated the anatomy of blood vessels in two different regions of the brain; the hippocampus and the corpus callosum. Vessel morphology and density were assessed by two different methods.

#### Manual vessel analysis

In paper I, vessel analysis in the hippocampus was performed manually using the area fraction fractionator module in the Stereo Investigator program. The area of interest was traced and the computer overlaid a grid on top of the structure in which counting frames were distributed. In that way, counting frames were randomly distributed within the structure. The investigator then counted the cells/objects of interest within the counting frame. Four different vessel parameters were quantified; vessel area, numbers of vessels, vessel diameter and vessel branching points (Figure 8). The grids and counting frames were manually determined in order to acquire consistency throughout the analysis. In paper I this was performed by testing different settings on the same animal and monitoring how consistent the analysis was. The goal was to quantify enough vessels in each sample, without oversampling, so that your calculated total number of vessels comes very close to the actual amount of total vessels.

#### METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS



**Figure 8**. Manual vessel morphology analysis was performed with the area fraction fractionator module. First, area was measured by marking all crosses that touched a vessel (left panel). Second, vessel number was quantified by counting all vessels that touched any of the borders of the box (middle panel). Furthermore, the diameter of all the counted vessels was measured using the quick measurement tool (not shown). Third, because there were few branching points and they were unevenly distributed, all branching points within each region were quantified without the area fraction fractionator module (right panel). Figure modified from Bostrom et al., 2013 (paper I).

#### Automated vessel analysis with Metamorph

During manual analysis, the investigator can adjust for minor discrepancies in staining intensities. However, in paper III, a semi-automated analysis was performed with the Metamorph Offline software to measure vessels in the corpus callosum. Images were acquired with the virtual tissue module in the Stereo Investigator software, which automatically acquired images within in the traced region of interest and stitched them together into one single image. Simultaneously, background subtraction within the software was used in order to subtract possible intensity differences within the microscope. These intensity differences could otherwise significantly affect the downstream analysis.

Within the Metamorph software, the threshold for what was considered positive staining was manually set by the investigator for each individual image. It is however possible to set a threshold and let the program import all images according to the set threshold. Nevertheless, regardless of how good the staining is, there will almost always be slight differences between sections. With the automated analysis you therefore need to be even more critical in order to avoid false positive or false negative results. After setting the threshold, the software automatically measures different parameters chosen by the investigator such as area, number of objects, length, perimeter etc (Figure 9). Since the analysis are measured in pixels, the values have to be recalculated into  $\mu$ m. Information about your specific pixel versus  $\mu$ m ratio can be found within the Stereo Investigator program. Note that the ratio is different for different objectives on the same microscope.



*Figure 9.* Microvessel parameters were measured with Metamorph on sections stained with CD31. The left picture illustrated the CD31 staining and the right picture represents microvessels that were analyzed with the Metamorph software in green.

### **CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY**

One problem with regular fluorescence microscopes is that the complete sample is illuminated by light resulting in every plane of the sample fluorescing simultaneously. This is not a major problem if you are only interested in looking at one antigen but if you are interested in colocalization of several different antigens this creates a problem. Colocalization means that two or more molecules are present at the same physical location in a specimen. For samples less than 5  $\mu$ m thick, conventional fluorescence microscopy is appropriate for colocalization. However, colocalization in thicker samples should be analyzed using a confocal laser scanning microscope. A confocal microscope can collect light from a thin focal plane and thereby obtains thin optical sections without signals from remote locations in the specimen. By using a confocal microscope you can therefore determine if a colocalization actually exists or not. However, spectral bleedthrough is a potential problem during multilabeling that arises as a consequence of emission spectral overlap between the fluorophores. Simultaneous excitation of the fluorophores should therefore not be used in order to avoid bleed-through and false colozalization. In the current thesis sequential scanning mode were therefore exclusively used, which excites the dyes separately, thereby minimizing bleed-through.

#### Neurovascular niche

For papers I and II, the distance between different cell types in the SGZ and its nearest microvessel was measured to reveal potential effects on the neurogenic niche after irradiation. Confocal images from one focal plane of the section were acquired with the cell/s and its nearest vessel in their best focus. Since the images were acquired from one focal plane only, extensive zooming up and down within the section had to be done in order to make sure that a vessel located closer to the cell/s was not excluded from the image. Following acquisition, the distance between cells and microvessels was measured with Adobe Illustrator CS6 in pixels and manually converted into  $\mu$ m. From all measurements, an average distance was calculated.

#### **Pericyte coverage**

Pericyte coverage was quantified by measuring the CD13<sup>+</sup> area (pericytes) within the CD31<sup>+</sup> area (microvessels). Confocal z-stacks were acquired and

maximum intensity projections were generated with the help of the ZEN 2012 software. The region/s of interest was manually determined and pericyte coverage was assessed with the Velocity software. First, the CD31<sup>+</sup> area was determined and the area was closed within the program to avoid gaps in the vessels due to possible weaker staining in some areas. Secondly, the CD13<sup>+</sup> area within the CD31<sup>+</sup> were determined. For both stainings, objects smaller than 5  $\mu$ m were excluded to avoid single pixels. The outcome of the analysis was hence percentage pericyte coverage of vessels.

# FLOW CYTOMETRY

Flow cytometry was used to evaluate the relative amount of ECs within the whole cell population at different time points after irradiation. Furthermore, nuclear staining was used to analyze the amount of cells within different stages of the cell cycle. Finally, flow cytometry was used to isolate ECs for further gene expression analysis.

### Single cell suspension

In order to analyze and isolate ECs with flow cytometry, a single cell suspension is needed. The isolation of a single cell suspension from tissue is however not without complications. First, the regions of interest, in this case hippocampus and cerebellum, are dissected from the brain. This is followed by both mechanical and enzymatic digestion to acquire a single cell suspension. However, due to the numerous synaptic connections, extracellular matrix, myelin etc within your tissue, the cell suspension will also contain a lot of debris. The presence of debris complicates further downstream analysis and isolation.

### **Basic procedure of flow cytometry**

Briefly, a flow cytometer could be explained as a fluorescence microscope that analyses cells in a suspension. However, in a microscope you receive an image of the cell while the flow cytometer gives you automated quantification of different parameters of the cell. Briefly explained, a single cell suspension flows through an illuminated flow cell where the cells scatter light in different directions dependent on size (Forward Scatter; FSC) and granularity (Side Scatter; SSC). Simultaneously, fluorescent antibodies attached to the cells become excited by the lasers and emit fluorescence signals that are collected by multiple detectors. Importantly, a flow cytometer is similar to the sequential scan mode of a confocal microscope, thereby limiting bleed-through between different fluorophores. Consequently, as long as you have fluorescent antibodies excited by different lasers there will be no bleed-through even if the emission spectrum is overlapping. However, during multicolor analysis you might need to use fluorophores with spectral overlap. This needs to be compensated, which is done by running single stained tubes one-by-one to detect the amount of spill-over.

Due to there being a large proportion of debris within each sample, a DNA stain (7-AAD) was included to identify cells. 7-AAD cannot pass through the intact cell membranes of living cells, but can be used to detect cells that have died, or cells which have been fixed and permeabilized, as the cells in this thesis. Firstly, 7-AAD was used to gate the cell population. Secondly, a sample with just secondary antibody was used to detect autofluorescence within the cell population. Gates were set above the autofluorescence so that a maximum of 0.2% of the cells were false positive (i.e. within the gate). Last, positively stained ECs within the defined gate were sorted into tubes and used for gene expression analysis.

### Cell cycle analysis

As previously described, proliferation of cells can be analyzed with regular IHC. However, if you want to distinguish between cells in different stages of the cell cycle multiple antibodies need to be used. A quicker and a different way of doing this is with flow cytometry. Analysis of where in the replication phase a cell is can be achieved by fluorescent labeling of the cell nucleus. Cells in the G1/G0 phase of the cell cycle will have one copy of the DNA whereas cells in the G2 and M phase will have two copies of DNA. Cells in the S phase are continuously synthesizing DNA and will therefore have between one and two copies of the DNA. In the current thesis, cell cycle analysis was used in paper IV with the help of ModFit LT, a program that automatically determines the percentage of cells in each phase.

### **GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS**

In paper IV, gene expression analysis was performed on ECs that had been isolated with flow cytometry.

### **RNA** purification

The ECs were fixed prior to staining and isolation, and we therefore used the RNeasy FFPE kit (Qiagen) that is specifically optimized for RNA purification from formalin-fixed tissue. Formalin fixation usually leads to highly fragmented nucleic acids that are chemically modified by the formalin. The primary aim of the kit is therefore to reverse as much formaldehyde fixation as possible without further degrading the RNA. Formalin crosslinking is partially reversed by a short incubation at high temperature (80°C).

It should be noted that nucleic acids from fixed tissue should not be used for downstream applications that requires full length RNA. Instead, RNA isolated from fixed tissue can be used in applications that use small amplicons, such as reverse transcription quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR). In fact, many of the probes/primers used for RT-qPCR are short with amplicons of ~ 50 bases to  $\geq$  200 bases that allows even significantly degraded RNA to be used for analysis without detectable negative effects.

RNA integrity is significantly affected by RNases that degrade RNA into smaller components. Intrinsic RNase activity can vary significantly between different tissues. For example, the pancreas has 181,000-fold higher RNase activity compared to the brain (Krosting and Latham). Furthermore, different tissues harbor different amounts of RNA. The effective RNA yield is therefore influenced by both the total RNA amount and the intrinsic RNase activity.

Furthermore, genomic DNA present in the sample could highly affect downstream gene expression analysis. Therefore, the kit has a DNase treatment included for maximal removal of genomic DNA.

#### cDNA synthesis

For synthesis of cDNA from the extracted RNA, the SuperScript VILO cDNA Synthesis Kit were used; a kit that is optimized to generate cDNA for use in RT-qPCR. It provides enhanced cDNA synthesis efficiency and was therefore optimal in this thesis since small amount of RNA was extracted from the ECs. To maximize the cDNA yield, the incubation time at 42°C was increased. It should be noted that an amplification step can be used to further amplify your cDNA. However, introducing this step will also introduce a possible variation between your samples. This step was therefore not used in the current thesis.

#### **Reverse transcription quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR)**

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) is a method that simultaneously amplifies and quantifies a specific DNA sequence of interest. For each cycle, the PCR exponentially amplifies the DNA, resulting in double amounts of cDNA after each cycle. In addition, with the help of fluorescent dyes the amount of DNA is monitored at the end of each cycle. After a number of cycles, the fluorescent signal reaches a threshold above background and the exponential phase of the reaction starts until a plateau phase is reached. To quantify the amount of mRNA present within your sample from the beginning, you determine the threshold (Ct) during the exponential phase and normalize it against stable genes within your sample, so called reference genes. The gene expression is therefore usually measured as relative amount of mRNA ( $\Delta$ Ct) between your gene of interest and reference genes.

It should be pointed out that changes in gene expression do not always result in an equivalent change in protein translation. Therefore, gene expression is often a first step that is later followed by protein quantifications.

#### **Detecting genomic DNA**

Finally, the possible detection of endogenous DNA should be addressed. If the DNase treatment during the RNA purification for some reason did not remove all endogenous DNA in the sample, the DNA could significantly affect the  $\Delta$ Ct value. To avoid this, negative controls can be used that include your RNA but not reverse transcriptase. Consequently, if DNA is detected within these samples, it is only due to endogenous DNA. If negative controls are included for each sample, the amount of detected DNA can be subtracted from the amount in the positive control to acquire the real  $\Delta$ Ct value, devoid of contaminated DNA. If there is a difference of 6 cycles between the

negative and the positive controls, it means that endogenous DNA accounts for roughly 1% of the detected gene expression. Furthermore, if there are 10 cycles between the positive and negative controls, endogenous DNA account for as little as 1 ‰ of the detected gene expression. In the current thesis, the amount of mRNA was too low to include both a positive and a negative control. However, one extra array was used to run negative controls for 8 random samples that had enough mRNA for both a positive and a negative control.

To avoid the complication of endogenous DNA to interfere with your qPCR you can also design primers and probes with care. The best probes to use are intron-spanning (\_m1) that only detect spliced mRNA. For all cases possible, probes with the \_m1 suffix were therefore used. If these were not present, probes with sequences located in different exons were used (\_g1). This limits the detection of genomic DNA, but does not exclude it completely. The worst probes to use are those that a designed within a single exon (\_s1) and amplification and detection can therefore occur from both mRNA and genomic DNA. These were only used when no other probes were available (information from Life Technologies web page, RNA isolation for qRT-PCR).

# ELISA

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is an antibody-based method used to determine the concentration of a protein based on color intensity. ELISA is a quick and easy method to use and is designed to rapidly handle large numbers of samples simultaneously. In order to measure the amount of a protein, ELISA could hence be used instead of IHC for quicker analysis. In paper III, ELISA was used to measure the concentration of myelin basic protein (MBP). An alternative way of measuring the amount of MPB protein could have been accomplished by measuring the intensity stained by IHC. However, different staining intensities could possibly have affected the analysis greatly, and I therefore believe that the ELISA was the best analysis of choice for the MBP measurement.

### **STATISTICS AND SIGNIFICANCE**

When performing statistical analysis you test the likelihood of two opposite hypothesis. The first hypothesis generally assume that no difference exist between the groups and is called the null hypothesis, H<sub>0</sub>. Furthermore, the second hypothesis proposes that differences actually do exist (alternative hypothesis,  $H_1$ ). You then analyze the data and decide whether to reject or accept the H<sub>0</sub> hypothesis. There is however a risk of error with rejection or acceptance of the  $H_0$  hypothesis. A type I error occur if you reject  $H_0$ although it is true. In addition, you might accept  $H_0$  when in fact  $H_1$  that is true, resulting in a type II error. The probability of making a type I error is called the significance level. A commonly used significance value is 0.05 and means that the probability of a type I error is 5 percent or that 1 out of 20 analysis will result in a significant result, although  $H_0$  is true. The significance level is always set before the tests are calculated. Furthermore, the significance value does not describe the size of the difference and a low significance value is hence not equivalent with a great difference or effect but is instead a measurement of how high the demands for the test are. In the current thesis the following significance values were used: p<0.05 (\*), p<0.01 (\*\*) and p<0.001 (\*\*\*). The significance value is often confused with the p-value but these two are however not equivalent. In contrast to the significance value that is set before the test is calculated, the p-value it estimated afterwards. If the p-value if less that the pre-set significance values, you can reject the H<sub>0</sub> hypothesis which means that a difference has been detected.

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### PERMANENT CHANGES IN NEUROGENESIS

In contrast to many other cells in the brain, stem and progenitor cells in the neurogenic areas have considerably elevated proliferative capacity. For that reason, they are highly sensitive to irradiation, and this has been shown in both rodents (Tada et al., 2000, Fukuda et al., 2004) and humans (Monje et al., 2007). The hippocampus is important for memory and learning by being responsible for the consolidation of short-term and long-term memories. It is however not an area for the storage of memories (Kempermann, 2011). The direct correlation, if any, between memory function and adult neurogenesis has been extensively debated, and still is (for review see Kohman and Rhodes, 2013). However, ample evidence exists, showing that neurons generated in adulthood form functional connections and that they might contribute to cognitive processes (Kempermann et al., 2004b, Grote and Hannan, 2007). It has been proposed that loss of these cells could contribute to the cognitive deficits observed after radiotherapy (Raber et al., 2004, Kuhn and Blomgren, 2011). Furthermore, limiting the radiation dose to the associated with lower risk of long-term hippocampus has been neurocognitive decline (Blomstrand et al., 2012, Gondi et al., 2013, Peiffer et al., 2013, Prokic et al., 2013).

It has been reported that irradiation-induced damage is more pronounced in the immature brain (Fukuda et al., 2005). By quantifying doublecortinpositive ( $DCX^+$ ) cells in paper I, we have confirmed that a moderate irradiation dose of 8 Gy to the developing brain reduces the number of neural progenitor cells in the hippocampus. This finding has been reported previously in both young and adult rodents (Monje et al., 2002, Fukuda et al., 2005, Naylor et al., 2008, Hellstrom et al., 2009, Kalm et al., 2013). We were also able to verify the natural age-related decline in hippocampal neurogenesis (Kuhn et al., 1996). The key finding of paper I was the relative loss of neural progenitor cells that progressed more quickly after irradiation, without any signs of recovery (Figure 10). This is in stark contrast to the SVZ, which is able to recover after irradiation, at least partly. The acute response to irradiation is however similar in both neurogenic areas (Hellstrom et al., 2009).



*Figure 10.* The number of  $DCX^+$  cells in the DG were decreased in irradiated mice at all 3 time points after irradiation. Furthermore, the relative loss increased with time, resulting in almost complete ablation of neurogenesis 1 year after irradiation (left panel). The right panel is a representative image of the DCX staining. Figure modified from Bostrom et al., 2013 (paper I).

#### STRUCTURAL CHANGES IN THE VASCULATURE

In paper I we investigated irradiation-induced effects on microvessel structure and complexity in the hippocampal DG. We found that a single dose of irradiation reduced total number of microvessels and microvessel branching points at all three investigated time points after irradiation (1 week, 7 weeks and 1 year). In addition, we also observed significant growth retardation in the DG, an effect that persisted in both the GCL and the ML until 1 year post-irradiation. This is consistent with previous reports of

smaller hippocampal volumes in rodents (Fukuda et al., 2004, Naylor et al., 2008, Huo et al., 2012), as well as volume loss in children following radiotherapy (McDonald and Hayes, 1967). When differences in volume were taken into consideration by calculating vascular densities, we observed an increased vascular density 1 week after irradiation. This indicates that the surrounding neural and glial tissue initially was more affected than the vascular tissue. However, at the two later time points, the densities in irradiated mice gradually normalized compared to control mice, demonstrating that the vasculature was capable of adapting to the surrounding tissue. Our results contradict a previous study that reported a decreased capillary density in the DG after 8 x 4.5 Gy of cranial irradiation (Warrington et al., 2011). The radiation dose in that study was however considerably higher than the dose used here, which is considered a clinically relevant dose, and they used adult mice. However, in another study where adult rats were subjected to a single dose of 25 Gy they saw no difference in vessel density (Ljubimova et al., 1991). Difficulties exist in the comparison between studies, because of variation in the outcomes after different doses, different ages of the animals and different evaluation methods.

### CHANGES IN THE NEUROVASCULAR NICHE

As previously described, irradiation-induced damage to hippocampal neurogenesis has been widely studied. However, many studies neglect the possible important role of the neurovascular niche. Previous studies performed in the adult rat brain have shown an alteration in the neurovascular niche where the distance between BrdU<sup>+</sup> cells and microvessels was increased in the irradiated rat brain (Monje et al., 2002). However, as the response to irradiation in the immature and adult brain varies, further studies are needed to confirm or reject the hypothesis that irradiation also affects the

neurovascular niche in the immature brain. The neurovascular niche was therefore investigated in papers I and II.

In paper I we measured the distance between microvessels and undifferentiated stem cells (BLBP<sup>+</sup>) in the hippocampal SGZ 7 weeks after irradiation. However, in contrast to the study by Monje et al. we did not detect any alterations in the distance between BLBP<sup>+</sup> cells and microvessels 7 weeks post-irradiation (Bostrom et al., 2013). This challenges the idea of microvessel injury being an upstream event in irradiation-induced loss of neurogenesis. In paper II we extended the first study by analyzing different time points after irradiation, as well as different cell types. We then observed an increased distance between DCX<sup>+</sup> cells and microvessels 6 hours postirradiation. In addition, an increased distance between proliferating Ki67<sup>+</sup> cells and microvessels was observed 1 week post-irradiation. The changes in the neurovascular niche however normalized with time, as shown by no difference between irradiated and control mice 7 weeks post-irradiation. The transiently increased distance for both proliferating cells and neural progenitor cells coincided with extensive cell death and inflammation within the SGZ, as well as edema in patients. Furthermore, earlier observations have shown that mainly proliferating cells in the neurogenic zones are sensitive to irradiation (Peissner et al., 1999, Tada et al., 2000, Huo et al., 2012, Roughton et al., 2012).

All microvessels have an inner lining of ECs surrounded by solitary perivascular mural cells termed pericytes. Pericytes extend processes that wrap around the walls of microvessels and they are considered important for microvessel maturation and stability (Lindahl et al., 1997). Due to the proposed important role of pericytes for the vasculature, and the lack of research performed within the area, we measured the pericyte coverage at different time points post-irradiation. Pericyte coverage was reduced acutely (6 hours post-irradiation) in the SGZ of irradiated animals. This difference, however, normalized with time, as judged by the lack of difference both 1 and 7 weeks post-irradiation. Low pericyte coverage is linked to increased endothelial cell turnover (Allt and Lawrenson, 2001, Lee et al., 2009, Armulik et al., 2011) and reduced pericyte coverage could theoretically lead to increased endothelial cell proliferation. In fact, cell cycle analysis of ECs in paper IV showed an increased amount of ECs in the actively cycling phases (S/G2/M) compared to "resting phases" (G0/G1) in the cerebellum 7 days post irradiation. This is in line with the reported transient increase in proliferation observed 7-14 days after irradiation (Tada et al., 1999).

Furthermore, pericyte loss in Pdgfr $\beta^{+/-}$  mice results in blood-brain barrier disruption and the accumulation of multiple neurotoxic and/or vasculotoxic molecules. Neuronal damage and memory deficits have also been observed in these mice, secondary to vascular damage (Bell et al., 2010). In the light of these results, our results regarding the transient reduction in pericyte coverage acutely after irradiation could perhaps coincide with increased BBB permeability (Soussain et al., 2009). This, in turn, could allow neurotoxic molecules into the brain, hence contributing to the neuronal damage seen after irradiation.

#### **ENDOTHELIAL APOPTOSIS**

It is well known that highly proliferating cells are extremely susceptible to irradiation (Fukuda et al., 2004). ECs in the adult brain are generally considered as stable cells with infrequent cell turnover (Hirschi et al., 2002) and would therefore be considered as a more radioresistant cell type. It has however been proposed that non-proliferating cells in the SGZ are also sensitive to irradiation and undergo acute apoptosis (Tada et al., 2000). Moreover, the current thesis shows that a larger proportion of ECs are in a

cycling phase of the cell cycle compared to the whole brain cell population at the age of P14. This was seen in both the hippocampus and the cerebellum and hence shows that ECs at the age of irradiation were still proliferating. From the age of P14 to the age of P21, ECs gradually adopted a more mature phenotype with infrequent cell turnover. This is consistent with a previous study showing that the maximal proliferation of ECs in rodents occurs between P5 and P9, followed by a gradual decrease. In their study, proliferation of ECs at the age of P14 was still significantly elevated compared to the adult (Robertson et al., 1985).

In paper I we investigated endothelial cell death by cleaved caspase-3 immunoreactivity. Activation of multiple caspases, including caspase-3, has been reported to be involved during endothelial cell apoptosis (Granville et al., 1999). We did not observe any significant cell death of ECs in irradiated animals acutely after irradiation. In fact, compared to the thousands of dying stem and progenitor cells in the SGZ (Huo et al., 2012), we detected only a handful of dying ECs in the entire hippocampus.

To further evaluate irradiation-induced apoptosis, we isolated ECs using flow cytometry in paper IV and investigated the gene expression of several genes involved in endothelial-specific apoptosis. While apoptosis in a number of cell types is dependent on and mediated by p53 (e.g. apoptosis of neural progenitor cells), the apoptosis of ECs is considered to be p53-independent. Instead, endothelial cell apoptosis is mediated by the acid sphingomyelinase (ASMase) pathway and knockout models for the gene that encodes ASMase shows protection against irradiation-induced endothelial cell apoptosis (Li et al., 2003, Fuks and Kolesnick, 2005, Li et al., 2010). In addition, ECs have 20-fold greater secretion of ASMase compared to other cell types in the body (Marathe et al., 1998). Endothelial apoptosis mediated by ASMase is considered to be independent and distinct from the p53-mediated pathway

(Santana et al., 1996). However, genes in the ASMase pathway were not induced in ECs of irradiated animals. Kolesnick and Fuks report that ASMase is rapidly activated within minutes to hours after irradiation (Kolesnick and Fuks, 2003), proposing that posttranslational modifications and subsequent activation might have occurred although no difference was detected on the gene level, or that the 6 hour time point were too late to detect any upregulation.

In summary, our data proposes that ECs are more radioresistant than other cell types. In general, cells are more vulnerable to irradiation when they are dividing (Fukuda et al., 2004). However, we showed increased amount of actively dividing ECs at the time of irradiation (P14) compared to the whole cell population in both the hippocampus and the cerebellum. Furthermore, no apparent EC death was detected acutely (6 hours) after irradiation. The question therefore remains how and if ECs are affected by *in vivo* irradiation if they do not undergo apoptosis. In addition to apoptosis or mitotic catastrophe, a consequence of irradiation is a state of irreversible growth arrest, so called senescence (Gudkov and Komarova, 2003). A recent article proposed that ECs enter a state of senescence after in vitro irradiation. Furthermore, the ECs had an increased extent of DNA damage that was repaired less efficiently than in other cell types, such as microglia, astrocytes and neurons. In addition, the authors showed that in vitro irradiation of rat cerebromicrovascular ECs led to the acquisition of a senescence-associated secretory phenotype, meaning that they secreted proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Ungvari et al., 2013).

# GENE EXPRESSION IN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS AFTER IRRADIATION

In paper IV we utilized flow cytometry to specifically isolate ECs and investigate a selected panel of genes after irradiation to the developing brain. Furthermore, by comparing the results from the hippocampus and the cerebellum, we have identified both similarities and differences in the EC response to irradiation between these two regions. The hippocampal DG and the cerebellar cortex mainly consist of postnatally generated granule cells (Altman, 1969). In addition, immature cerebellar granule cells grafted into the developing DG shows features of residential dentate neurons. It was therefore proposed that factors present in the environment control the regional fate of neuronal precursor cells (Vicario-Abejon et al., 1995). However, completely different gene expression profiles during postnatal development have been observed in the hippocampus and the cerebellum (Saito et al., 2002).

Medulloblastoma is the most common malignant brain tumor in children and is located in the cerebellum. After surgery and chemotherapy to reduce the tumor burden, patients receive craniospinal irradiation together with a higher radiation boost delivered to the tumor bed. When it was revealed that longsurvivors medulloblastoma term of often experience progressive neurocognitive decline, treatment protocols were adjusted to reduce radiation both in regards to volume and dose. Similar cognitive impairments, albeit not as pronounced, have been seen in non-irradiated patients hence proposing that radiotherapy alone does not account for all the observed negative effects. In addition to radiation and chemotherapy, surgery and the tumor itself can cause significant damage that affects cognitive function (Cantelmi et al., 2008).

72
In paper IV we show that ECs upregulated proinflammatory genes such as CCL-11, CCL-2 and IL-6 acutely after irradiation in both the hippocampus and the cerebellum. It has previously been shown that the inflammatory response after irradiation is transient in the immature brain (Kalm et al., 2009) but chronic in the adult brain (Monje et al., 2002, Monje et al., 2003). We observed the largest upregulation 6 hours after irradiation, after which we observed a gradual decline in gene expression until 7 days post irradiation when most genes were back to baseline levels. Our data hence confirm previous studies about transient inflammation in the immature rodent brain. However, it should be noted that gene expression does not always correlate with protein translation. Further studies are required in order to confirm the irradiation-induced inflammatory response of ECs.

As previously mentioned, following in vitro irradiation ECs adopt a senescence-associated secretory phenotype that is characterized by the upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-6 and eotaxin (CCL-11) (Ungvari et al., 2013), i.e. two of the genes that were upregulated in endothelial cells after in vivo irradiation in the current thesis. Furthermore, ionizing radiation of human ECs in vitro induced a similar proinflammatory phenotype with e.g. upregulation of IL-6 expression (Hneino et al., 2012). Since it has been proposed that reduced hippocampal neurogenesis is secondary effects to inflammation (Monje et al., 2002), it would be of great interest to explore whether ECs after a clinically relevant dose of *in vivo* irradiation would acquire a similar proinflammatory phenotype. In the study by Monje et al, non-irradiated neural precursor cells transplanted into an irradiated hippocampus failed to differentiate into neurons, at least not to the same extent as in non-irradiated tissue (Monje et al., 2002), indicating that the microenvironment are involved in the regulation of hippocampal neurogenesis. Interestingly, upregulation of CCL11 plasma levels has been linked to age-related decline in hippocampal neurogenesis (Monje et al., 2002, Villeda et al., 2011). It is therefore tempting to speculate that inhibition of CCL11 or its receptor/s would decrease the inflammatory response after irradiation and reduce the negative effects on neurogenesis. To investigate this, transgenic mice and conditional knockout strains would be very useful tools.

#### WHITE MATTER DAMAGE

It has been proposed that white matter harbors an oligovascular niche, similar to the neurovascular niche in gray matter. Oligodendrocytes and ECs are closely associated in white matter and reports have suggested that a crosstalk between these two cell types are involved in the angiogenic response after white matter damage (Pham et al., 2012). In paper III we investigated vascular structure in the corpus callosum and found fewer vessels and smaller total vessel area after irradiation. However, this decrease was accompanied by decreased total volume of the corpus callosum, resulting in unchanged densities for all of the measured vascular parameters. As in the hippocampus (Bostrom et al., 2013), this indicates that the vasculature adjusts to the need of the growth-impaired corpus callosum, at least morphologically.

The time of irradiation in all papers in the current thesis coincides with increased growth of the corpus callosum, proliferation of oligodendrocytes and myelination in mice. The highest growth rates of the corpus callosum occur during the first years in life and the biggest difference in growth rates between males and females are observed during adolescence (Lenroot and Giedd, 2006, Lenroot et al., 2007). Moreover, myelination in the human brain continues during childhood and into the second and third decades of life (Semple et al., 2013). Oligodendrocytes are responsible for the generation of myelin sheaths and in rats oligodendrogenesis peaks during the second

postnatal week, just prior to the peak of myelination (Skoff and Knapp, 1991, Krinke, 2000, Fukuda et al., 2005). It has been reported that females have more unmyelinated fibers than males (Cerghet et al., 2009). In our study we did however observe that females had higher levels of myelin basic protein compared to males. The significance of this is however beyond the scope of this thesis.

Oxidative stress is considered a major damage-mediating effect of irradiation (Limoli et al., 2004). In addition, fully matured oligodendrocytes have a high metabolic rate and are therefore sensitive to oxidative stress (Bradl and Lassmann, 2010). In paper III we show that the numbers of oligodendrocytes decrease after irradiation, and that the effect was more pronounced in females. Interestingly, proliferation of glial cells is twice as high in female as in male rodents (Cerghet et al., 2009). This could perhaps partly explain the observed differences between females and males. Furthermore, the BrdU quantification followed a similar pattern as the Olig2 quantification, thereby indicating that pre-oligodendrocytes and proliferating cells might be equally targeted by irradiation in the developing brain. Supporting this, oligodendrocytes with myelination capacity can be generated from NSPCs in the SVZ. Following differentiation, the newly generated cells migrate to a great extent into the corpus callosum (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2008). Since irradiation consistently causes damage in the two neurogenic areas of the brain (Fukuda et al., 2004), it would be tempting to speculate that ablation of NSPCs in the SVZ affect the ongoing myelination at the time of irradiation.

The role of the vasculature in secondary damage following radiotherapy has been extensively debated. By irradiating the vasculature specifically or the parenchyma uniformly with the boron neutron capture model, quite opposite effects have been reported. In spinal cord irradiation, similar white matter necrosis was observed both when the vasculature was targeted specifically and when the parenchyma was irradiated uniformly (Morris et al., 1996). However, another study has shown that selective irradiation of the vasculature resulted in decreased loss of hippocampal neural progenitor cells compared to when irradiation was delivered uniformly to the parenchyma. They hence speculated that neural progenitor loss is an effect of direct irradiation to the precursor cells, rather than a secondary effect to vascular damage (Otsuka et al., 2006). However, the abrogation of acute apoptosis of ECs and/or NPCs did not prevent the decline in neurogenesis commonly observed after irradiation. It was therefore concluded that acute apoptosis of these cell types does not have a direct role in the decline in neurogenesis occurring after irradiation (Li et al., 2010).

It has previously been proposed that white matter is more susceptible to irradiation since white matter has a lower vascular density (McDonald and Hayes, 1967). In the current thesis we investigated vascular structure in both the hippocampus and the corpus callosum. However, vascular density was unchanged in both structures long-term after irradiation; hence arguing against that white matter is more susceptible to irradiation than gray matter. Interestingly, vascular density in this thesis was similar between the corpus callosum (white matter) and the DG (gray matter), at least for the hilus and the ML. The lowest density was found in the GCL, which could perhaps partly explain the fact that vascular structures were more affected in the GCL compared to the hilus and ML after irradiation (paper I).

### VASCULAR VERSUS NEURONAL HYPOTHESIS

Vascular abnormalities are observed in many neurodegenerative diseases, but the question remains whether the vascular changes are the cause or a consequence of disease (Quaegebeur et al., 2010). In the case of radiotherapy, it was long hypothesized that damage observed in the brain was due to irradiation-induced vascular damages that in turn caused ischemia and white matter necrosis (Myers et al., 1986). During the years, the cellular mechanism and primary source for irradiation-induced damage have however been extensively debated. Since the discovery that adult neurogenesis actually does exist in discrete areas of the brain, attention has to a great extent switched to the neuronal point of view. Proliferating NSPCs are extremely sensitive to irradiation, but it is not known if this is due to damage to the cells directly and/or through damage to and changes in the microenvironment.

More than a decade ago it was proposed that hippocampal NSPCs reside in a specialized vascular niche that regulates their proliferation and survival (Palmer et al., 2000). Furthermore, it has been proposed that radiation-induced disruption of the interaction between ECs and NSPCs results in loss of neurogenic potential (Monje et al., 2002). In addition, endothelial apoptosis has been observed to precede stem cell dysfunction after irradiation to the intestine, and stem cell damage could be rescued by preventing EC apoptosis (Paris et al., 2001). However, when irradiation targeted vessels specifically instead of being uniformly delivered to the parenchyma, reduced loss of NPCs was observed (Otsuka et al., 2006).

In the current thesis we report transient changes in the neurovascular niche that normalized with time. Neurogenesis, on the other hand, did not recover, instead the loss of NPCs in irradiated animals increased with time. This demonstrates dissociation between neurogenesis and the morphological patency of the hippocampal neurovascular niche. Furthermore, we also demonstrate that the vasculature seems to be able to adjust to the surrounding tissue. Together, these findings speak against the vasculature being an upstream event in reduced neurogenesis after irradiation. However, our gene expression analysis indicates that ECs may play an active role in the inflammatory response after irradiation. This reveals a potential novel role for the vasculature, since it has been shown that inflammation negatively affects NPC differentiation.

Before the identification of irradiation-induced late effects, much higher irradiation doses were used both during radiotherapy and in animal models. However, during the last decades treatment protocols have been adjusted to reduce both radiation volume and dose in the hope of reducing negative side effects of radiotherapy. Consequently, many animal models have been redesigned, using lower irradiation doses in order to more closely mimic the clinical settings. In the current thesis we have therefore exclusively used relatively moderate doses of irradiation. This could perhaps partly explain the fact that we were unable to show such vascular damage that previous studies have reported following irradiation. Although ample evidence historically has supported the hypothesis that vascular damage is the primary cause of late radiation-induced brain injury, much evidence is now emerging, demonstrating late effects without apparent vascular damage or changes. The data presented in the current thesis suggest that the observed irradiationinduced damage cannot exclusively be due to vascular damage. However, the data do not rule out that the vasculature still has an important role in the toxic microenvironment after irradiation.

## **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

As discussed in this thesis, all cell types in the brain have important and unique roles and a tightly regulated coordination between these cells is needed in order to maintain brain homeostasis and regulate the local environment for the cells to function properly. Many disorders within the CNS exhibit disruptions in one or both of the neural and vascular systems. A better understanding of the relationship between the two systems will be important in order to develop more effective and specific approaches to CNS disorders.

In many pathological situations, research focuses mainly on how neurons are affected. However, it is now generally agreed on that this is not enough and that it is important to consider all cell types within the neurovascular niche/unit. In order to protect one cell type, you may need to consider cell-cell interactions with other cell types to succeed.

## SPECIFIC CONCLUSIONS TO GIVEN AIMS

- **I.** When investigating microvessel structure and complexity we found that the vasculature adjusts to the needs of the surrounding neural and glial tissue.
- II. We have observed that irradiation to the developing brain has longlasting detrimental effects on neurogenesis and that neurogenesis deteriorates more rapidly after irradiation, without any signs of recovery.

- III. We reported that the neurovascular niche was transiently affected by irradiation, while neurogenesis was permanently disrupted, thereby questioning the importance of the vascular niche in the regulation of neurogenesis.
- IV. Finally, we showed that endothelial cells appeared to be more radioresistant than other cell types, at least within the hippocampus and cerebellum, but that they may be involved in the acute inflammatory response after irradiation through the upregulation of inflammatory genes.

# CLINICAL PERSPECTIVE AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This thesis indicates that the ECs are involved in the inflammatory response acutely after irradiation. However, our study so far only includes gene expression data and therefore only partially unravels the importance of the vasculature in the inflammatory response after irradiation. In future studies, we wish to investigate the protein expression of the most strongly regulated inflammatory genes. We intend to do this by isolating ECs as previously described in paper IV and then quantitate protein expression of the most interesting genes using ELISA.

We are interested in the functional implications of this inflammatory response observed in ECs. This could be investigated by use of *in vitro* experiments, co-culturing ECs and other cell types. For example, co-cultures with irradiated ECs and pericytes, as well as irradiated ECs and NSPCs would help clarify if ECs are responsible for secondary effects on these other cell types. Alternatively, conditioned media from irradiated cultured ECs could be added to cell cultures of microglia and the microglial response be observed by change in morphology and gene and protein expression. We would thereby be able to confirm or reject the hypothesis that ECs are involved in the massive activation of microglia occurring after irradiation, which was shown to be detrimental for hippocampal neurogenesis.

The current thesis demonstrates reduced pericyte coverage 6 hours after irradiation. No solitary pericytes were observed that did not colocalize with microvessels, hence indicating that they did not undergo apoptosis, and/or that they were not recruited or stimulated to migrate to nearby sites of injury, at least not at the time point investigated. It is thereby unclear if the reduced

pericyte coverage was due to apoptosis, reduced numbers of pericytes or rearrangements of their structure. Unfortunately it is not trivial to determine the exact numbers of pericytes per vessel, since, to our knowledge, there is no available nuclear antibody specific for pericytes. Reporter mice, where pericytes are readily identified by the expression of an easily visualized marker or enzyme, could be used for this, together with staining for apoptotic markers after irradiation, either on sections or by flow cytometry. If using flow cytometry, pericytes could be isolated, whereby expression of selected genes or markers could be analyzed. The effect on pericytes after irradiation is so far unexplored and these experiments would therefore be a novel contribution to the radiation research field. Furthermore, our data do not exclude that there are ultrastructural changes in the pericyte – endothelial interaction, either at the time of reduced pericyte coverage or at later time points when coverage was normalized. This would be interesting to investigate by electron microscopy.

The work carried out in this thesis is oriented towards developing a better understanding of what causes the negative effects observed after cranial radiotherapy in children. It is important to investigate both acute and late effects since even very low doses of cranial radiation during infancy showed a negative correlation with intellectual capacity in adulthood (Hall et al., 2004). Furthermore, it has been proposed that cognitive decline following radiotherapy could, at least partly, be due to loss of hippocampal neurogenesis (Raber et al., 2004, Kuhn and Blomgren, 2011). In order to develop better strategies to ameliorate the negative effects, it is important to characterize how neurogenesis is regulated both under normal and pathological situations.

# Acknowledgements

The time as a PhD student has been full of ups and downs. During this whole process I have been greatly dependent on the love and support from people around me. The friendly environment at CBR has inspired me during these years and I am grateful to all of you! If I during this ample stress and confusion forgot to thank anyone, please forgive me and hope you know how grateful I am anyway! In particular I would like to thank the following people:

Klas Blomgren, min huvudhandledare och mentor under dessa år. Först och främst tack för att du tog dig an mig som doktorand och för att du aldrig slutat tro på mig under dessa år. Tack också för att du gett mig så fria tyglar under åren som gjort att jag idag är en självständig forskare. Jag har uppskattat dina uppmuntrande ord, extra mycket under de stunder då livet som doktorand känts tufft. Tack också för intressanta diskussioner om livet i allmänhet, hjälp med allergimedicin, vetenskaplig input, för att du delat med dig av din enorma kunskap och för att du vågar bjuda på dig själv!

Andrew Naylor, min första bihandledare som med enorm glädje och entusiasm introducerade mig in i livet som doktorand. Jag kommer förevigt vara dig tacksam för det.

**Nina Hellström Erkenstam**, min andra bihandledare och den som tog hand om mig och vägledde mig under mitt examensarbete. Du var även den som introducerade mig in i flödescytometrins fascinerade värld. Tack för allt stöd och för all hjälp nu på slutet med att få ihop ramen och manusen i tid! Det känns roligt att du följt mig från början till slut. Jag uppskattar att vi kan prata om allt och att vi har så lika syn på balansen mellan forskning och fritid.

**Marie Kalm**, min tredje bihandledare. Är så glad över att du ställde upp som en extra bihandledare, tack för allt stöd och peppning under mitt sista år. Utan dig som bollplank hade jag nog inte haft mycket hår kvar på huvudet vid det här laget ;). Tack för att du alltid finns tills hands oavsett dag och tid! Din jobbmoral och drivna personlighet kommer ta dig långt inom forskningen, det är jag helt övertygad om! Tack också för trevligt resesällskap till Hawaii, en helt oförglömlig resa! **Georg Kuhn**, my supervisor during my master thesis. Thank you for introducing me into the exciting neuroscience field and for sharing your vast knowledge about aspects both within and outside the research area.

Karolina Roughton, tack för ditt smittsamma goda humör som muntrat upp mig under dagar då jag upplevt doktorandtiden som "mindre rolig". Det har varit roligt att göra denna resa tillsammans och jag kommer bära med mig många minnen och skratt från både labbet och våra fantastiska konferensresor!

**Rita Grandér**, gruppens ankmamma som har världens mest smittsamma skratt. Tack för all hjälp och stöd under dessa år och för att du alltid förser oss med lakritsdäck! ;)

**Niklas Karlsson**, du lämnade ett stort tomrum efter dig när du flyttade till Stockholm. Kommer alltid komma ihåg våra försök med de galna mössen!

**Malin Blomstrand** för alla intressanta diskussioner och för stödet nu på slutet. Din kliniska input har varit ovärderlig och jag önskar dig stort lycka till med din egen avhandling.

**Birgit** och **Ann-Marie**, räddarna i nöden som ALLTID ställer upp och som alltid gör det med ett leende på läpparna! Ni är verkligen kugghjulen som får CBR att gå runt.

**Michelle Porritt** for your kindness and impressive knowledge! Extra thanks for correcting some of my manuscripts and for your feedback on this thesis!

**Charlotta Blom**, för att du under så många år förgyllt tillvaron på CBR med din sprudlade personlighet och att du delat med din av din kunskap. Jag har verkligen saknat våra många samtal i korridoren sen du slutade! Ett extra tack för att du tackade ja till att agera toastmaster på min disputationsfest och för vår minnesvärda konferensresa till New Orleans. ©

Thank you to members of the Blomgren group: Wei Han for your cheerful spirit and Ahmed Osman for these years together, you are a true inspiration! Elena Di Martino for all your nice cakes and Giulia Zanni for the wonderful trip to Italy. Cuicui Xie and Kai Zhou for your smiles that always cheers me up. Changlian Zhu for nice scientific discussions and for providing me with antibodies when needed. Lars Karlsson för att du bidrar till den trevliga stämningen i vår grupp.

Tack till alla kollegor som gjort dessa år till så mycket mer än bara jobb. Extra tack till glada och söta Åsa Persson Sandelius, min gamla rumskamrat Olle Lindberg, gamla kursaren Reza Motalleb, Thomas Padel for many laughs, Jenny Zhang for many nice talks, Martina Olsson för trevligt samarbete, Anke Brederlau för ditt engagemang, Christy Cooper for your entusiasm, Susanne Neumann for many jokes, Pete Smith my old roomy <sup>©</sup> och Ina Nodin, Heléne Segersäll, Jenny Nyberg för många trevliga stunder i lunchrummet!

Thanks to the colleagues at CBR, old as new: Michael Nilsson, Maurice Curtis, Milos Pekny, Marcela Pekna, Anders Ståhlberg för råd och input om qPCR analyser, Mohammed Karimipour, Fredrik Larsson, Lina Bunketorp Käll, Daniel Andersson, Till Puschmann, Ulrika Wilhelmsson, Yolanda de Pablo, Anna Stokowska, Marta Perez Alcazar, Åsa Widestrand, Jonas Faijerson Säljö, Henrik Landgren, Mathilda Axell, Cecilia Bull, Karin Gustafsson, Anna Wolf för värdeful input om qPCR analys och upplägg, Yoshiako Sato and Tomoyo Pschiishi for contributing to the friendly environment at CBR.

Gunnel Nordström, Mari Klaesson, Kirsten Toftered, Niclas Johansson och Anki Nyberg för att ni underlättat och möjliggjort mitt jobb genom att fixa allt som har med administration att göra.

**Oskar Bergström** och **Marcus Johansson** för er oumbärliga hjälp med datorer! Bättre IT-avdelning finns helt enkelt inte!

Tack till **Katarina Junevik** för att du lärde upp mig på FACSen och för att du alltid ställt upp och hjälpt till med alla problem jag haft.

Tack till **Kecke Elmroth** och **Ulla Delle** på onkologlabb för ert trevliga bemötande och hjälpsamhet med cellcykelanalyserna.

Thanks to Ana Baburamani for helping me with the Metamorph software.

Tack till min släkt och mina vänner (ingen nämnd, ingen glömd) för att ni finns där och gör livet vackrare och finare att leva. Extra tack för förståelsen över mina konstiga arbetstider och för att ni peppat och hejat på mig! Nu när detta är över och jag kommit ur min "bubbla" kan vi återigen ses och börja umgås som vanligt igen! ©

**Mamma** och **Pappa**, för all er kärlek och ert stöd under alla år. Bättre föräldrar finns inte och jag är så glad över att ni är just mina. Er uppmuntran vad jag än tagit mig an i livet har format mig till den person jag är idag! Tack för att ni alltid ställer upp oavsett vad det gäller som om jag skulle nämna allt inte skulle få plats inom ramarna av denna bok. Ni är ovärderliga, **TACK**!

Min storasyster **Anna** för att du alltid tror på mig, förstår mig och uppmuntrar mig. Hur olika vi än verkar på ytan så är vi i grund och botten så otroligt lika. Extra tack för all hjälp nu på slutet, speciellt med mardrömsprogrammet Word och för rådet att äta choklad när energin tryter! Tack till min bror-av-lagen **Simon** för all din hjälp med bilderna till avhandlingen. Dina magiska fingrar har lyckats göra de bilder som jag förställt mig i huvudet. Jag är så glad för att du kommit in i vår familj och blivit som den storebror jag aldrig haft! Tack också till **Alve**, världens sötaste systerson. Tack för att du ger mig perspektiv på vad som är viktigt i livet och för din villkorslösa kärlek och glädje. Längtar otroligt mycket till mostergos med "**Makita**" när han/hon kommit till världen.

Tack **mormor**, för din enorma uppmuntran, nyfikenhet och engagemang för vad jag gör. Jag tror att du är en av de få medlemmarna i min alldeles egna "fan-club" <sup>©</sup>. Tack för alla samtal vi haft när jag sitter i bilen på väg till eller från jobbet! Tack **morfar**, för den kärlek och glädje du gav. Du och din sjukdom är en av de största anledningarna till att jag valde att doktorera och sen att jag valde just neurovetenskap. Det smärtar att du inte kan vara med idag och dela detta med mig men du är alltid med i våra hjärtan! ♥

Jens, mitt livs kärlek. Tack för allt från leverans av mat till jobbet när jag är trött och hungrig till dina kramar och pussar när energin och orken tagit slut. Vet inte vad jag hade tagit mig till utan ditt outtröttliga tålamod, stöd och kärlek. You are truly my first, my last and my everything. ♥

This work was supported by the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation (Barncancerfonden), the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet), the Swedish Cancer Foundation (Cancerfonden), governmental grants from Agreement concerning research and education of doctors (ALF), the Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg, the Sten A. Olsson's Foundation, the Frimurare Barnhus Foundation, the Wilhelm and Martina Lundgren Foundation, the Gothenburg Medical Society, the Aina Wallström's and Mary-Ann Sjöblom's Foundation, the Ulla and Rune Amlöv Foundations, AFA Insurance, the Edith Jacobssons Donation Fund and the Royal and Hvitfeldtska Foundation. The funding agencies had no influence on the study design.

## References

- Abbott NJ, Patabendige AA, Dolman DE, Yusof SR, Begley DJ (2010) Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. Neurobiology of disease 37:13-25.
- Abraham H, Tornoczky T, Kosztolanyi G, Seress L (2001) Cell formation in the cortical layers of the developing human cerebellum. International journal of developmental neuroscience : the official journal of the International Society for Developmental Neuroscience 19:53-62.
- Aird WC (2007) Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. Circ Res 100:158-173.
- Ajami B, Bennett JL, Krieger C, Tetzlaff W, Rossi FM (2007) Local selfrenewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. Nat Neurosci 10:1538-1543.
- Allen NJ, Barres BA (2009) Neuroscience: Glia more than just brain glue. Nature 457:675-677.
- Alliot F, Godin I, Pessac B (1999) Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain. Brain research Developmental brain research 117:145-152.
- Allt G, Lawrenson JG (2001) Pericytes: cell biology and pathology. Cells, tissues, organs 169:1-11.
- Altman J (1969) Autoradiographic and histological studies of postnatal neurogenesis. IV. Cell proliferation and migration in the anterior forebrain, with special reference to persisting neurogenesis in the olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol 137:433-457.
- Altman J, Das GD (1965) Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J Comp Neurol 124:319-335.
- Alvarez-Buylla A, Kohwi M, Nguyen TM, Merkle FT (2008) The heterogeneity of adult neural stem cells and the emerging complexity of their niche. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology 73:357-365.
- Armulik A, Genove G, Betsholtz C (2011) Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. Dev Cell 21:193-215.
- Armulik A, Genove G, Mae M, Nisancioglu MH, Wallgard E, Niaudet C, He L, Norlin J, Lindblom P, Strittmatter K, Johansson BR, Betsholtz C (2010) Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. Nature 468:557-561.

- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM (1997) Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 275:964-967.
- Autiero M, De Smet F, Claes F, Carmeliet P (2005) Role of neural guidance signals in blood vessel navigation. Cardiovascular research 65:629-638.
- Barncancerrapporten (2013) Barncancerfonden http://www.barncancerfonden.se/Global/webbutik/Informationsmater ial/barncancerrapporten-2013.pdf.
- Bayer SA (1980) Development of the hippocampal region in the rat. I. Neurogenesis examined with 3H-thymidine autoradiography. J Comp Neurol 190:87-114.
- Bell RD, Winkler EA, Sagare AP, Singh I, LaRue B, Deane R, Zlokovic BV (2010) Pericytes control key neurovascular functions and neuronal phenotype in the adult brain and during brain aging. Neuron 68:409-427.
- Bergers G, Song S (2005) The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. Neuro-oncology 7:452-464.
- Blomstrand M, Brodin NP, Munck Af Rosenschold P, Vogelius IR, Sanchez Merino G, Kiil-Berthlesen A, Blomgren K, Lannering B, Bentzen SM, Bjork-Eriksson T (2012) Estimated clinical benefit of protecting neurogenesis in the developing brain during radiation therapy for pediatric medulloblastoma. Neuro-oncology 14:882-889.
- Bostrom M, Kalm M, Karlsson N, Hellstrom Erkenstam N, Blomgren K (2013) Irradiation to the young mouse brain caused long-term, progressive depletion of neurogenesis but did not disrupt the neurovascular niche. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 33:935-943.
- Bradl M, Lassmann H (2010) Oligodendrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta neuropathologica 119:37-53.
- Cantelmi D, Schweizer TA, Cusimano MD (2008) Role of the cerebellum in the neurocognitive sequelae of treatment of tumours of the posterior fossa: an update. Lancet Oncol 9:569-576.
- Carmeliet P, Tessier-Lavigne M (2005) Common mechanisms of nerve and blood vessel wiring. Nature 436:193-200.
- Cayre M, Strambi C, Charpin P, Augier R, Meyer MR, Edwards JS, Strambi A (1996) Neurogenesis in adult insect mushroom bodies. J Comp Neurol 371:300-310.
- Cerghet M, Skoff RP, Bessert D, Zhang Z, Mullins C, Ghandour MS (2006) Proliferation and death of oligodendrocytes and myelin proteins are differentially regulated in male and female rodents. J Neurosci 26:1439-1447.

- Cerghet M, Skoff RP, Swamydas M, Bessert D (2009) Sexual dimorphism in the white matter of rodents. J Neurol Sci 286:76-80.
- Chi JT, Chang HY, Haraldsen G, Jahnsen FL, Troyanskaya OG, Chang DS, Wang Z, Rockson SG, van de Rijn M, Botstein D, Brown PO (2003) Endothelial cell diversity revealed by global expression profiling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10623-10628.
- Cleary MA, Uboha N, Picciotto MR, Beech RD (2006) Expression of ezrin in glial tubes in the adult subventricular zone and rostral migratory stream. Neuroscience 143:851-861.
- Cooper-Kuhn CM, Kuhn HG (2002) Is it all DNA repair? Methodological considerations for detecting neurogenesis in the adult brain. Brain research Developmental brain research 134:13-21.
- Correale J, Villa A (2009) Cellular elements of the blood-brain barrier. Neurochem Res 34:2067-2077.
- De Smet F, Segura I, De Bock K, Hohensinner PJ, Carmeliet P (2009) Mechanisms of vessel branching: filopodia on endothelial tip cells lead the way. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29:639-649.
- DeCarolis NA, Mechanic M, Petrik D, Carlton A, Ables JL, Malhotra S, Bachoo R, Gotz M, Lagace DC, Eisch AJ (2013) In vivo contribution of nestin- and GLAST-lineage cells to adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Hippocampus 23:708-719.
- Dunne-Daly CF (1999) Principles of radiotherapy and radiobiology. Seminars in oncology nursing 15:250-259.
- Eichmann A, Makinen T, Alitalo K (2005) Neural guidance molecules regulate vascular remodeling and vessel navigation. Genes & development 19:1013-1021.
- Ekdahl CT, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O (2009) Brain inflammation and adult neurogenesis: the dual role of microglia. Neuroscience 158:1021-1029.
- Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH (1998) Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4:1313-1317.
- Filippov V, Kronenberg G, Pivneva T, Reuter K, Steiner B, Wang LP, Yamaguchi M, Kettenmann H, Kempermann G (2003) Subpopulation of nestin-expressing progenitor cells in the adult murine hippocampus shows electrophysiological and morphological characteristics of astrocytes. Mol Cell Neurosci 23:373-382.
- Fishell G (1995) Striatal precursors adopt cortical identities in response to local cues. Development (Cambridge, England) 121:803-812.
- Fisher SA, Burggren WW (2007) Role of hypoxia in the evolution and development of the cardiovascular system. Antioxidants & redox signaling 9:1339-1352.

- Font E, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alcantara S, Lopez-Garcia C (1991) Neuron regeneration reverses 3-acetylpyridine-induced cell loss in the cerebral cortex of adult lizards. Brain Res 551:230-235.
- Fouladi M, Gilger E, Kocak M, Wallace D, Buchanan G, Reeves C, Robbins N, Merchant T, Kun LE, Khan R, Gajjar A, Mulhern R (2005) Intellectual and functional outcome of children 3 years old or younger who have CNS malignancies. J Clin Oncol 23:7152-7160.
- Fowler JF (1989) The linear-quadratic formula and progress in fractionated radiotherapy. Br J Radiol 62:679-694.
- Frielingsdorf H, Kuhn HG (2007) Adult neurogenesis—a reality check. Debates in Neuroscience 1:33-41.
- Fuks Z, Kolesnick R (2005) Engaging the vascular component of the tumor response. Cancer Cell 8:89-91.
- Fukuda A, Fukuda H, Swanpalmer J, Hertzman S, Lannering B, Marky I, Bjork-Eriksson T, Blomgren K (2005) Age-dependent sensitivity of the developing brain to irradiation is correlated with the number and vulnerability of progenitor cells. J Neurochem 92:569-584.
- Fukuda H, Fukuda A, Zhu C, Korhonen L, Swanpalmer J, Hertzman S, Leist M, Lannering B, Lindholm D, Bjork-Eriksson T, Marky I, Blomgren K (2004) Irradiation-induced progenitor cell death in the developing brain is resistant to erythropoietin treatment and caspase inhibition. Cell Death Differ 11:1166-1178.
- Gaber MW, Sabek OM, Fukatsu K, Wilcox HG, Kiani MF, Merchant TE (2003) Differences in ICAM-1 and TNF-alpha expression between large single fraction and fractionated irradiation in mouse brain. Int J Radiat Biol 79:359-366.
- Goldberg JS, Hirschi KK (2009) Diverse roles of the vasculature within the neural stem cell niche. Regen Med 4:879-897.
- Goldman SA, Chen Z (2011) Perivascular instruction of cell genesis and fate in the adult brain. Nat Neurosci 14:1382-1389.
- Goldman SA, Nottebohm F (1983) Neuronal production, migration, and differentiation in a vocal control nucleus of the adult female canary brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:2390-2394.
- Gondi V, Hermann BP, Mehta MP, Tome WA (2013) Hippocampal dosimetry predicts neurocognitive function impairment after fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for benign or low-grade adult brain tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 85:348-354.
- Granville DJ, Shaw JR, Leong S, Carthy CM, Margaron P, Hunt DW, McManus BM (1999) Release of cytochrome c, Bax migration, Bid cleavage, and activation of caspases 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, and 9 during endothelial cell apoptosis. Am J Pathol 155:1021-1025.

- Greene-Schloesser D, Robbins ME, Peiffer AM, Shaw EG, Wheeler KT, Chan MD (2012) Radiation-induced brain injury: A review. Frontiers in oncology 2:73.
- Grote HE, Hannan AJ (2007) Regulators of adult neurogenesis in the healthy and diseased brain. Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology 34:533-545.
- Gudkov AV, Komarova EA (2003) The role of p53 in determining sensitivity to radiotherapy. Nature reviews Cancer 3:117-129.
- Gur RC, Turetsky BI, Matsui M, Yan M, Bilker W, Hughett P, Gur RE (1999) Sex differences in brain gray and white matter in healthy young adults: correlations with cognitive performance. J Neurosci 19:4065-4072.
- Gustafsson G, Kogner P, Heyman M (2013) Childhood Cancer Incidence and Survival in Sweden 1984-2010. Report From the Swedish Childhood Cancer Registry <u>http://www.cceg.ki.se/documents/ChildhoodCancerIncidenceandSurv</u> ivalinSweden1984\_2010.pdf.
- Hall P, Adami HO, Trichopoulos D, Pedersen NL, Lagiou P, Ekbom A, Ingvar M, Lundell M, Granath F (2004) Effect of low doses of ionising radiation in infancy on cognitive function in adulthood: Swedish population based cohort study. BMJ 328:19.
- Han JW, Kwon SY, Won SC, Shin YJ, Ko JH, Lyu CJ (2009) Comprehensive clinical follow-up of late effects in childhood cancer survivors shows the need for early and well-timed intervention. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO 20:1170-1177.
- Hellstrom NA, Bjork-Eriksson T, Blomgren K, Kuhn HG (2009) Differential recovery of neural stem cells in the subventricular zone and dentate gyrus after ionizing radiation. Stem Cells 27:634-641.
- Hirschi KK, Skalak TC, Peirce SM, Little CD (2002) Vascular assembly in natural and engineered tissues. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 961:223-242.
- Hneino M, Blirando K, Buard V, Tarlet G, Benderitter M, Hoodless P, Francois A, Milliat F (2012) The TG-interacting factor TGIF1 regulates stress-induced proinflammatory phenotype of endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 287:38913-38921.
- Hopewell JW, Calvo W, Jaenke R, Reinhold HS, Robbins ME, Whitehouse EM (1993) Microvasculature and radiation damage. Recent Results Cancer Res 130:1-16.
- Huo K, Sun Y, Li H, Du X, Wang X, Karlsson N, Zhu C, Blomgren K (2012) Lithium reduced neural progenitor apoptosis in the hippocampus and ameliorated functional deficits after irradiation to the immature mouse brain. Mol Cell Neurosci 51:32-42.

- Jin K, Zhu Y, Sun Y, Mao XO, Xie L, Greenberg DA (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11946-11950.
- Kalm M, Fukuda A, Fukuda H, Ohrfelt A, Lannering B, Bjork-Eriksson T, Blennow K, Marky I, Blomgren K (2009) Transient inflammation in neurogenic regions after irradiation of the developing brain. Radiat Res 171:66-76.
- Kalm M, Karlsson N, Nilsson MK, Blomgren K (2013) Loss of hippocampal neurogenesis, increased novelty-induced activity, decreased home cage activity, and impaired reversal learning one year after irradiation of the young mouse brain. Exp Neurol.
- Kempermann G (2011) Adult Neurogenesis 2. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Kempermann G, Gast D, Kronenberg G, Yamaguchi M, Gage FH (2003) Early determination and long-term persistence of adult-generated new neurons in the hippocampus of mice. Development (Cambridge, England) 130:391-399.
- Kempermann G, Jessberger S, Steiner B, Kronenberg G (2004a) Milestones of neuronal development in the adult hippocampus. Trends Neurosci 27:447-452.
- Kempermann G, Wiskott L, Gage FH (2004b) Functional significance of adult neurogenesis. Current opinion in neurobiology 14:186-191.
- Khakoo AY, Finkel T (2005) Endothelial progenitor cells. Annu Rev Med 56:79-101.
- Kohman RA, Rhodes JS (2013) Neurogenesis, inflammation and behavior. Brain, behavior, and immunity 27:22-32.
- Kolesnick R, Fuks Z (2003) Radiation and ceramide-induced apoptosis. Oncogene 22:5897-5906.
- Konczak J, Timmann D (2007) The effect of damage to the cerebellum on sensorimotor and cognitive function in children and adolescents. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 31:1101-1113.
- Krinke GJ (2000) The laboratory rat. San Diego, CA, USA: Academic.
- Krosting J, Latham G AMBICON, Inc.
- Kuhn HG, Biebl M, Wilhelm D, Li M, Friedlander RM, Winkler J (2005) Increased generation of granule cells in adult Bcl-2-overexpressing mice: a role for cell death during continued hippocampal neurogenesis. Eur J Neurosci 22:1907-1915.
- Kuhn HG, Blomgren K (2011) Developmental dysregulation of adult neurogenesis. Eur J Neurosci 33:1115-1122.
- Kuhn HG, Cooper-Kuhn CM (2007) Bromodeoxyuridine and the detection of neurogenesis. Current pharmaceutical biotechnology 8:127-131.

- Kuhn HG, Dickinson-Anson H, Gage FH (1996) Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: age-related decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. J Neurosci 16:2027-2033.
- Kuhn HG, Peterson DA (2008) Detection and Phenotypic Characterization of Adult Neurogenesis. In: Adult Neurogenesis (Gage, F. H. et al., eds) New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Lagace DC, Whitman MC, Noonan MA, Ables JL, DeCarolis NA, Arguello AA, Donovan MH, Fischer SJ, Farnbauch LA, Beech RD, DiLeone RJ, Greer CA, Mandyam CD, Eisch AJ (2007) Dynamic contribution of nestin-expressing stem cells to adult neurogenesis. J Neurosci 27:12623-12629.
- Lahteenmaki PM, Harila-Saari A, Pukkala EI, Kyyronen P, Salmi TT, Sankila R (2007) Scholastic achievements of children with brain tumors at the end of comprehensive education: a nationwide, register-based study. Neurology 69:296-305.
- Lannering B, Marky I, Lundberg A, Olsson E (1990a) Long-term sequelae after pediatric brain tumors: their effect on disability and quality of life. Med Pediatr Oncol 18:304-310.
- Lannering B, Marky I, Nordborg C (1990b) Brain tumors in childhood and adolescence in west Sweden 1970-1984. Epidemiology and survival. Cancer 66:604-609.
- Larrivee B, Freitas C, Suchting S, Brunet I, Eichmann A (2009) Guidance of vascular development: lessons from the nervous system. Circ Res 104:428-441.
- Lee HS, Han J, Bai HJ, Kim KW (2009) Brain angiogenesis in developmental and pathological processes: regulation, molecular and cellular communication at the neurovascular interface. The FEBS journal 276:4622-4635.
- Lenroot RK, Giedd JN (2006) Brain development in children and adolescents: insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 30:718-729.
- Lenroot RK, Gogtay N, Greenstein DK, Wells EM, Wallace GL, Clasen LS, Blumenthal JD, Lerch J, Zijdenbos AP, Evans AC, Thompson PM, Giedd JN (2007) Sexual dimorphism of brain developmental trajectories during childhood and adolescence. Neuroimage 36:1065-1073.
- Li YQ, Aubert I, Wong CS (2010) Abrogation of early apoptosis does not alter late inhibition of hippocampal neurogenesis after irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 77:1213-1222.
- Li YQ, Chen P, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Reilly RM, Wong CS (2003) Endothelial apoptosis initiates acute blood-brain barrier disruption after ionizing radiation. Cancer Res 63:5950-5956.

- Lieberman HB (2008) DNA damage repair and response proteins as targets for cancer therapy. Current medicinal chemistry 15:360-367.
- Limoli CL, Giedzinski E, Rola R, Otsuka S, Palmer TD, Fike JR (2004) Radiation response of neural precursor cells: linking cellular sensitivity to cell cycle checkpoints, apoptosis and oxidative stress. Radiation research 161:17-27.
- Lindahl P, Johansson BR, Leveen P, Betsholtz C (1997) Pericyte loss and microaneurysm formation in PDGF-B-deficient mice. Science 277:242-245.
- Ljubimova NV, Levitman MK, Plotnikova ED, Eidus L (1991) Endothelial cell population dynamics in rat brain after local irradiation. Br J Radiol 64:934-940.
- Lok J, Gupta P, Guo S, Kim WJ, Whalen MJ, van Leyen K, Lo EH (2007) Cell-cell signaling in the neurovascular unit. Neurochem Res 32:2032-2045.
- Luders E, Thompson PM, Toga AW (2010) The development of the corpus callosum in the healthy human brain. J Neurosci 30:10985-10990.
- Magnander K, Elmroth K (2012) Biological consequences of formation and repair of complex DNA damage. Cancer Lett.
- Marathe S, Schissel SL, Yellin MJ, Beatini N, Mintzer R, Williams KJ, Tabas I (1998) Human vascular endothelial cells are a rich and regulatable source of secretory sphingomyelinase. Implications for early atherogenesis and ceramide-mediated cell signaling. J Biol Chem 273:4081-4088.
- McDonald LW, Hayes TL (1967) The role of capillaries in the pathogenesis of delayed radionecrosis of brain. Am J Pathol 50:745-764.
- Mellick AS, Plummer PN, Nolan DJ, Gao D, Bambino K, Hahn M, Catena R, Turner V, McDonnell K, Benezra R, Brink R, Swarbrick A, Mittal V (2010) Using the transcription factor inhibitor of DNA binding 1 to selectively target endothelial progenitor cells offers novel strategies to inhibit tumor angiogenesis and growth. Cancer Res 70:7273-7282.
- Miale IL, Sidman RL (1961) An autoradiographic analysis of histogenesis in the mouse cerebellum. Exp Neurol 4:277-296.
- Ming GL, Song H (2011) Adult neurogenesis in the mammalian brain: significant answers and significant questions. Neuron 70:687-702.
- Monje ML, Mizumatsu S, Fike JR, Palmer TD (2002) Irradiation induces neural precursor-cell dysfunction. Nat Med 8:955-962.
- Monje ML, Toda H, Palmer TD (2003) Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science 302:1760-1765.
- Monje ML, Vogel H, Masek M, Ligon KL, Fisher PG, Palmer TD (2007) Impaired human hippocampal neurogenesis after treatment for central nervous system malignancies. Ann Neurol 62:515-520.

- Morris GM, Coderre JA, Bywaters A, Whitehouse E, Hopewell JW (1996) Boron neutron capture irradiation of the rat spinal cord: histopathological evidence of a vascular-mediated pathogenesis. Radiat Res 146:313-320.
- Mukouyama YS, Shin D, Britsch S, Taniguchi M, Anderson DJ (2002) Sensory nerves determine the pattern of arterial differentiation and blood vessel branching in the skin. Cell 109:693-705.
- Mulhern RK, Palmer SL, Reddick WE, Glass JO, Kun LE, Taylor J, Langston J, Gajjar A (2001) Risks of young age for selected neurocognitive deficits in medulloblastoma are associated with white matter loss. J Clin Oncol 19:472-479.
- Myers R, Rogers MA, Hornsey S (1986) A reappraisal of the roles of glial and vascular elements in the development of white matter necrosis in irradiated rat spinal cord. The British journal of cancer Supplement 7:221-223.
- Naylor AS, Bull C, Nilsson MK, Zhu C, Bjork-Eriksson T, Eriksson PS, Blomgren K, Kuhn HG (2008) Voluntary running rescues adult hippocampal neurogenesis after irradiation of the young mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:14632-14637.
- Nih LR, Deroide N, Lere-Dean C, Lerouet D, Soustrat M, Levy BI, Silvestre JS, Merkulova-Rainon T, Pocard M, Margaill I, Kubis N (2012) Neuroblast survival depends on mature vascular network formation after mouse stroke: role of endothelial and smooth muscle progenitor cell co-administration. Eur J Neurosci 35:1208-1217.
- Nowak K, Rafat N, Belle S, Weiss C, Hanusch C, Hohenberger P, Beck G (2010) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are increased in human lung cancer and correlate with stage of disease. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery 37:758-763.
- Otsuka S, Coderre JA, Micca PL, Morris GM, Hopewell JW, Rola R, Fike JR (2006) Depletion of neural precursor cells after local brain irradiation is due to radiation dose to the parenchyma, not the vasculature. Radiat Res 165:582-591.
- Palmer SL, Glass JO, Li Y, Ogg R, Qaddoumi I, Armstrong GT, Wright K, Wetmore C, Broniscer A, Gajjar A, Reddick WE (2012) White matter integrity is associated with cognitive processing in patients treated for a posterior fossa brain tumor. Neuro-oncology 14:1185-1193.
- Palmer TD, Willhoite AR, Gage FH (2000) Vascular niche for adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J Comp Neurol 425:479-494.
- Paris F, Fuks Z, Kang A, Capodieci P, Juan G, Ehleiter D, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Cordon-Cardo C, Kolesnick R (2001) Endothelial

apoptosis as the primary lesion initiating intestinal radiation damage in mice. Science 293:293-297.

- Parkin DM, Stiller CA, Draper GJ, Bieber CA (1988) The international incidence of childhood cancer. Int J Cancer 42:511-520.
- Peiffer AM, Leyrer CM, Greene-Schloesser DM, Shing E, Kearns WT, Hinson WH, Tatter SB, Ip EH, Rapp SR, Robbins ME, Shaw EG, Chan MD (2013) Neuroanatomical target theory as a predictive model for radiation-induced cognitive decline. Neurology 80:747-753.
- Peissner W, Kocher M, Treuer H, Gillardon F (1999) Ionizing radiationinduced apoptosis of proliferating stem cells in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat hippocampus. Brain research Molecular brain research 71:61-68.
- Peppiatt CM, Howarth C, Mobbs P, Attwell D (2006) Bidirectional control of CNS capillary diameter by pericytes. Nature 443:700-704.
- Pham LD, Hayakawa K, Seo JH, Nguyen MN, Som AT, Lee BJ, Guo S, Kim KW, Lo EH, Arai K (2012) Crosstalk between oligodendrocytes and cerebral endothelium contributes to vascular remodeling after white matter injury. Glia 60:875-881.
- Potente M, Gerhardt H, Carmeliet P (2011) Basic and therapeutic aspects of angiogenesis. Cell 146:873-887.
- Prokic V, Wiedenmann N, Fels F, Schmucker M, Nieder C, Grosu AL (2013) Whole brain irradiation with hippocampal sparing and dose escalation on multiple brain metastases: a planning study on treatment concepts. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 85:264-270.
- Quaegebeur A, Segura I, Carmeliet P (2010) Pericytes: blood-brain barrier safeguards against neurodegeneration? Neuron 68:321-323.
- Raber J, Rola R, LeFevour A, Morhardt D, Curley J, Mizumatsu S, VandenBerg SR, Fike JR (2004) Radiation-induced cognitive impairments are associated with changes in indicators of hippocampal neurogenesis. Radiat Res 162:39-47.
- Ramsauer M, Krause D, Dermietzel R (2002) Angiogenesis of the bloodbrain barrier in vitro and the function of cerebral pericytes. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 16:1274-1276.
- Rapoport M, van Reekum R, Mayberg H (2000) The role of the cerebellum in cognition and behavior: a selective review. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 12:193-198.
- Reddick WE, Russell JM, Glass JO, Xiong X, Mulhern RK, Langston JW, Merchant TE, Kun LE, Gajjar A (2000) Subtle white matter volume differences in children treated for medulloblastoma with conventional or reduced dose craniospinal irradiation. Magnetic resonance imaging 18:787-793.

- Ribatti D (2007) The discovery of endothelial progenitor cells. An historical review. Leukemia research 31:439-444.
- Ris MD, Packer R, Goldwein J, Jones-Wallace D, Boyett JM (2001) Intellectual outcome after reduced-dose radiation therapy plus adjuvant chemotherapy for medulloblastoma: a Children's Cancer Group study. J Clin Oncol 19:3470-3476.
- Robertson PL, Du Bois M, Bowman PD, Goldstein GW (1985) Angiogenesis in developing rat brain: an in vivo and in vitro study. Brain Res 355:219-223.
- Roughton K, Kalm M, Blomgren K (2012) Sex-dependent differences in behavior and hippocampal neurogenesis after irradiation to the young mouse brain. Eur J Neurosci 36:2763-2772.
- Rubin LL, Staddon JM (1999) The cell biology of the blood-brain barrier. Annu Rev Neurosci 22:11-28.
- Russell DS, Wilson CW, Tansley K (1949) Experimental radio-necrosis of the brain in rabbits. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 12:187-195.
- Saito S, Matoba R, Ueno N, Matsubara K, Kato K (2002) Comparison of gene expression profiling during postnatal development of mouse dentate gyrus and cerebellum. Physiol Genomics 8:131-137.
- Santana P, Pena LA, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Martin S, Green D, McLoughlin M, Cordon-Cardo C, Schuchman EH, Fuks Z, Kolesnick R (1996) Acid sphingomyelinase-deficient human lymphoblasts and mice are defective in radiation-induced apoptosis. Cell 86:189-199.
- Segura I, De Smet F, Hohensinner PJ, Ruiz de Almodovar C, Carmeliet P (2009) The neurovascular link in health and disease: an update. Trends in molecular medicine 15:439-451.
- Semple BD, Blomgren K, Gimlin K, Ferriero DM, Noble-Haeusslein LJ (2013) Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. Progress in neurobiology.
- Shen Q, Goderie SK, Jin L, Karanth N, Sun Y, Abramova N, Vincent P, Pumiglia K, Temple S (2004) Endothelial cells stimulate self-renewal and expand neurogenesis of neural stem cells. Science 304:1338-1340.
- Sierra A, Encinas JM, Deudero JJ, Chancey JH, Enikolopov G, Overstreet-Wadiche LS, Tsirka SE, Maletic-Savatic M (2010) Microglia shape adult hippocampal neurogenesis through apoptosis-coupled phagocytosis. Cell Stem Cell 7:483-495.
- Skoff RP, Knapp PE (1991) Division of astroblasts and oligodendroblasts in postnatal rodent brain: evidence for separate astrocyte and oligodendrocyte lineages. Glia 4:165-174.

- Soussain C, Ricard D, Fike JR, Mazeron JJ, Psimaras D, Delattre JY (2009) CNS complications of radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Lancet 374:1639-1651.
- Spalding KL, Bergmann O, Alkass K, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Huttner HB, Bostrom E, Westerlund I, Vial C, Buchholz BA, Possnert G, Mash DC, Druid H, Frisen J (2013) Dynamics of hippocampal neurogenesis in adult humans. Cell 153:1219-1227.
- Stahnisch FW, Nitsch R (2002) Santiago Ramon y Cajal's concept of neuronal plasticity: the ambiguity lives on. Trends Neurosci 25:589-591.
- Steliarova-Foucher E, Stiller C, Kaatsch P, Berrino F, Coebergh JW, Lacour B, Parkin M (2004) Geographical patterns and time trends of cancer incidence and survival among children and adolescents in Europe since the 1970s (the ACCISproject): an epidemiological study. Lancet 364:2097-2105.
- Stewart PA, Wiley MJ (1981) Developing nervous tissue induces formation of blood-brain barrier characteristics in invading endothelial cells: a study using quail--chick transplantation chimeras. Dev Biol 84:183-192.
- Swift MR, Weinstein BM (2009) Arterial-venous specification during development. Circ Res 104:576-588.
- Tada E, Parent JM, Lowenstein DH, Fike JR (2000) X-irradiation causes a prolonged reduction in cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus of adult rats. Neuroscience 99:33-41.
- Tada E, Yang C, Gobbel GT, Lamborn KR, Fike JR (1999) Long-term impairment of subependymal repopulation following damage by ionizing irradiation. Exp Neurol 160:66-77.
- Tam SJ, Watts RJ (2010) Connecting vascular and nervous system development: angiogenesis and the blood-brain barrier. Annu Rev Neurosci 33:379-408.
- Thoms J, Bristow RG (2010) DNA repair targeting and radiotherapy: a focus on the therapeutic ratio. Semin Radiat Oncol 20:217-222.
- Ungvari Z, Podlutsky A, Sosnowska D, Tucsek Z, Toth P, Deak F, Gautam T, Csiszar A, Sonntag WE (2013) Ionizing Radiation Promotes the Acquisition of a Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype and Impairs Angiogenic Capacity in Cerebromicrovascular Endothelial Cells: Role of Increased DNA Damage and Decreased DNA Repair Capacity in Microvascular Radiosensitivity. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences.
- Walton NM, Sutter BM, Laywell ED, Levkoff LH, Kearns SM, Marshall GP, 2nd, Scheffler B, Steindler DA (2006) Microglia instruct subventricular zone neurogenesis. Glia 54:815-825.

- van Deurs B (1976) Observations on the blood-brain barrier in hypertensive rats, with particular reference to phagocytic pericytes. Journal of ultrastructure research 56:65-77.
- Warrington JP, Csiszar A, Johnson DA, Herman TS, Ahmad S, Lee YW, Sonntag WE (2011) Cerebral microvascular rarefaction induced by whole brain radiation is reversible by systemic hypoxia in mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 300:H736-744.
- Vicario-Abejon C, Cunningham MG, McKay RD (1995) Cerebellar precursors transplanted to the neonatal dentate gyrus express features characteristic of hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 15:6351-6363.
- Villeda SA, Luo J, Mosher KI, Zou B, Britschgi M, Bieri G, Stan TM, Fainberg N, Ding Z, Eggel A, Lucin KM, Czirr E, Park JS, Couillard-Despres S, Aigner L, Li G, Peskind ER, Kaye JA, Quinn JF, Galasko DR, Xie XS, Rando TA, Wyss-Coray T (2011) The ageing systemic milieu negatively regulates neurogenesis and cognitive function. Nature 477:90-94.
- Virgintino D, Maiorano E, Errede M, Vimercati A, Greco P, Selvaggi L, Roncali L, Bertossi M (1998) Astroglia-microvessel relationship in the developing human telencephalon. The International journal of developmental biology 42:1165-1168.
- Yuan H, Gaber MW, Boyd K, Wilson CM, Kiani MF, Merchant TE (2006) Effects of fractionated radiation on the brain vasculature in a murine model: blood-brain barrier permeability, astrocyte proliferation, and ultrastructural changes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 66:860-866.
- Zenker D, Begley D, Bratzke H, Rubsamen-Waigmann H, von Briesen H (2003) Human blood-derived macrophages enhance barrier function of cultured primary bovine and human brain capillary endothelial cells. J Physiol 551:1023-1032.
- Zlokovic BV (2008) The blood-brain barrier in health and chronic neurodegenerative disorders. Neuron 57:178-201.